





# Efficient Computation of Multiplicity and Directional Multiplicity of an Isolated Point

Angelos Mantzaflaris

Hamid Rahkooy

Zafeirakis Zafeirakopoulos

DK-Report No. 2015-04

 $07 \ 2015$ 

A–4040 LINZ, ALTENBERGERSTRASSE 69, AUSTRIA

Supported by

Austrian Science Fund (FWF)

Upper Austria





Editorial Board:	Bruno Buchberger Bert Jüttler Ulrich Langer Manuel Kauers Esther Klann Peter Paule Clemens Pechstein Veronika Pillwein Silviu Radu Ronny Ramlau Josef Schicho Wolfgang Schreiner Franz Winkler Walter Zulehner
Managing Editor:	Silviu Radu
Communicated by:	Bruno Buchberger Josef Schicho

DK sponsors:

- $\bullet$  Johannes Kepler University Linz  $(\rm JKU)$
- $\bullet$  Austrian Science Fund  $({\rm FWF})$
- Upper Austria

# Efficient Computation of Multiplicity and Directional Multiplicity of an Isolated Point

Angelos Mantzaflaris **RICAM**, Austrian Academy of Sciences angelos.mantzaflaris@oeaw.ac.at

Hamid Rahkooy **RISC & DK Computational Mathematics** rahkooy@risc.jku.at

> Zafeirakis Zafeirakopoulos National University of Athens zafeirakopoulos@gmail.com

#### Abstract

The dual space of a primary ideal associated to an isolated point is a topic of study which appears in several occasions in symbolic computation. In the present work we elaborate on the computation of a representation for these dual spaces. A basis for the dual space reveals the multiplicity structure of the point under study. Macaulay's algorithm is a classic algorithm for computing such a basis [18]. However it is not the most efficient algorithm due to large matrix constructions and redundant computations. There are several improvements on Macaulay's algorithm. Mourrain's integration method serves as the most advanced algorithm, constructing much smaller matrices [23]. Both algorithms are incremental, i.e., they compute a basis for the dual space degree by degree, via computing the kernel of a certain matrix at each step. Recently, an improvement on the integration method has been developed, which avoids redundancy in computations by computing both a primal and a dual basis simultaneously [19]. In this work, we generalize the latter result by computing a polynomial primal basis along with the dual basis. This reduces the size of the matrices even further. We show that a similar improvement can be applied to Macaulay's algorithm as well. We also introduce the notion of *directional multiplicity*, which has applications in studying degeneracy in many problems involving variable elimination, in particular in arrangements of planar curves.

## Contents

1	Introduction	2					
2	<b>Directional Multiplicity</b> 2.1 Preliminaries on the Dual Space of a Polynomial Ring						
	2.2 Definition and Properties	5					
3	Algorithms for Dual Basis and Directional Multiplicity	9					
	3.1 Macaulay's Algorithm						
	3.2 Integration Method	11					
	3.3 Modified Algorithms for Dual Basis	13					
	3.3.1 Modifications on Integration Method	14					
	3.3.2 Modifications of Macaulay's Algorithm	19					
4	Applications and Future Work	22					
	4.1 Applications of Directional Multiplicity	22					
	4.2 Future Work	23					

## **1** Introduction

**The Problem.** Consider an isolated point in the variety of a given ideal and its associated primary component. The quotient of the polynomial ring modulo this associated primary ideal is a vector space, whose dimension is the multiplicity of the point. A basis for the quotient and therefore the multiplicity can be computed via Gröbner bases.

It is classically known that the dual space of the polynomial ring is isomorphic to the space of differential operators acting at the point. This space is in general infinite dimensional. However, the dual space of a primary ideal is a finite dimensional subspace and can be treated computationally. In fact, the dimension of this subspace is the multiplicity of the point. Having the dual space of this subspace, a Gröbner basis of the primary component can be obtained from it. Computing a basis for this dual space is the main topic of this work.

Considering the differential operators as polynomials, there is a bound on the degree of the monomials of such polynomials, the so called Nil-index. The existence of this bound allows us to search for a basis incrementally, i.e., degree by degree, among the monomials with degree at most Nil-index. In fact a basis can be found among the linear combinations of such monomials. Assigning symbolic coefficients for those monomials and applying some necessary and sufficient conditions that the differential operators must satisfy, we obtain a matrix whose kernel gives us the values of the coefficients.

This argument reduces the problem into the kernel computation problem in some specific matrices. Because of the structure of the matrices that are constructed at each step of the procedure, they can be very large and also there are repeated and redundant computations. The problem of making improvements via constructing smaller matrices and efficient computations is at the epicenter of this work.

It turns out that a basis for the dual space has the advantage of locality compared to a (global) Gröbner basis computation for a given input ideal. The dual space shows us the local multiplicity structure at the point of interest, which provides us with information on its intrinsic geometry. The multiplicity structure plays an essential role in several problems related to multiplicity and elimination, which can be treated via directional multiplicities that will be introduced in this work. The motivation for this work stems from our earlier investigation on using resultants in Gröbner basis computation. The idea was to project a given ideal by resultants and then use it as an element in the elimination ideal in order to facilitate computing a Gröbner basis. This problem lead us to the multiplicity problem in the elimination ideal of two affine algebraic planar curves. Directional multiplicity can be used to study the geometric properties of a point and in particular to shed light to our motivational problem.

**Previous Work.** Multiplicity structure of isolated points has been well studied in literature [12, 18, 30, 26, 19] and it is an active research field with recent articles on the topic, e.g. [15]. There are efficient linear algebra algorithms to compute the multiplicity structure via dual space. A historical work conducted by Macaulay [18] shows how to construct the simplest matrices in order to compute a basis for the dual space. This algorithm is still used widely and several improvements have been made that make Macaulay's algorithm faster. Wu and Zhi worked on a symbolic-numeric method for computing the primary components and the differential operators [29], which is based on an algorithm for determining the dual space that is mentioned in the book [26] by Stetter. In [30] Zeng used the ideas in Stetter's algorithm and introduced his closedness property in order to make Macaulay's matrices smaller. Mourrain gave a new algorithm based on integration in [23], which is more efficient than the algorithm of Macaulay in terms of the size of the matrices. This algorithm was improved by Mantzaflaris and Mourrain in [19] by adding a new criterion. A detailed review of the integration method and its application to root deflation methods is given in [20]

Marinari, Mora and Möller's work on dual spaces in [21, 22], includes studying the behaviour of the dual space under projection, which is the base of our result related to the use of dual elements to study the elimination ideal. A survey on dual spaces, including Marinari, Mora and Möller's main results, is given in the book by Elkadi and Mourrain [12]. Also Bates, Peterson and Sommese have worked on the multiplicity of the primary components [3]. Li and Zhi's have investigated computing the Nil-index [17]. Examining the multiplicity structure via deflation is exhibited in the work of Dayton and Zeng [11] and Leykin and Verschelde [16].

Polynomials elimination theory is an old and central topic. The two main tools in elimination theory are Gröbner Bases and resultants. Our motivational ideas for using resultants in Gröbner basis computation is described in [24], which considers the elimination problem independent of the dual computation.

Buchberger introduced and expanded the Gröbner basis concept and gave an algorithm for Gröbner bases computation in his PhD thesis [5, 6]. Gröbner bases initiated a field of study in computational commutative algebra and algebraic geometry. The applications of Gröbner bases are countless both in theoretical as well as practical

problems, when dealing with algebraic systems. Apart from the application of Gröbner bases in computing the multiplicity, we will extensively use its elimination property [6] that allows computing the elimination ideals.

Resultants is a classic tool in elimination theory. It has been extensively studied by Sylvester, Bezout, Dixon, Macaulay and van der Waerden [27, 28]. A smooth introduction to resultants, including Sylvester and Macaulay resultants is given in [8] and [9]. A survey on computational methods is given in [13], and a modern view towards the topic is [14].

**Contributions.** The main contributions of this work are improvements to the integration method and Macaulay's algorithm. As the size of the matrices constructed in each step of the algorithms is the main obstacle in computations, we propose criteria that allow deleting some columns from the matrices in order to reduce the size of the matrices.

For the integration method, the state of the art algorithm, in Proposition 8 we give an explicit generalization of the improvement done in [19], as we detect and use a polynomial basis for the quotient rather than the monomial basis. The new primal bases are in accordance with [23, Prop. 3.7], which can be generalized for the case in question. Corollary 19 shows our criterion for deleting some columns such that the kernel of the new matrix only detects new members of a basis of the dual space, which avoids recomputing the lower degree basis elements that are obtained in the previous steps. The reduction of lower-degree elements has been employed in [19] using a different criterion; however, under certain circumstances this criterion can increase the row-size of the matrix.

For Macaulay's algorithm, we propose two criteria, each reducing the size of the matrices at each step drastically. First we show Criterion 22, which is similar to the one for the integration method that deletes some columns at each step, so that we do not recompute the previously computed basis elements. Moreover, using the properties of the dual space, we show Criterion 11 that predicts that some columns will not appear in the basis. These criteria employ the ideas of the integration method in order to reduce the size of the Macaulay matrices.

Apart from those criteria that can be used for computing the whole dual basis, we introduce the notion of directional multiplicity in Definition 5, which can give us more information than the Nil-index, a classic invariant which has been the topic of various studies in the multiplicity structure field. Our modified algorithms can be used in several cases to compute the directional multiplicity faster than the whole dual space.

An interesting interplay between the directional multiplicity and the degree of the elimination ideal is presented. As an application, in studying arrangements and topology of curves one can use directional multiplicities in order to project the extreme point of a curve.

**Structure of the paper.** In Section 2, we first give a short introduction to dual spaces of polynomial rings. Then we focus on the multiplicity structure of an isolated point. In this way, we introduce directional multiplicity and the extended Buchberger diagram. We show bounds on the directional multiplicities with respect to Nil-index and the intersection multiplicity. Section 3 includes our main results. After demonstrating the existing algorithms for computing the dual space, we show our improvements on those algorithms and discuss the advantages. Section 4 contains two subsections. In Subsection 4.1 we briefly show some applications of directional multiplicities in computational problems. Subsection 4.2 includes the main problems that we are considering as the future directions of research.

**Notation.** We introduce the following notation that will be consistently used in this paper, unless otherwise is stated. For every ideal  $I \leq \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  and for  $J \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , the elimination ideal of I with respect to J consists of those polynomials in I that contain only the variables indexed by J and is denoted by  $I_J :=$  $I \cap \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, \hat{x_J}, \ldots, x_n]$ . The *i*-th elimination ideal of I is defined to be  $I_{i+1,\ldots,n} := I \cap \mathbb{K}[x_{i+1}, \ldots, x_n]$ .

## 2 Directional Multiplicity

In this section, we take a look at the dual space of an ideal. This leads us to introduce the notion of *Directional Multiplicity*. Directional multiplicities give us a lot of information about the multiplicity structure at an isolated point. Using Lemma 3 we provide a sound definition of directional multiplicity. Then, we show that directional multiplicities can be bounded and can bound some other invariants of an ideal, namely the Nil-index and the intersection multiplicity.

#### 2.1 Preliminaries on the Dual Space of a Polynomial Ring

We present a brief review of the dual space of polynomial rings from [23]. Let  $R = \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  and consider it as a vector space over  $\mathbb{K}$ . Denote by  $\hat{R}$  the dual of R and note that it is a (not necessarily finite dimensional) vector space. Let  $\zeta = (\zeta_1, \ldots, \zeta_n) \in \mathbb{K}^n$ ,  $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$  and define

$$\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathbf{a}} : R \longrightarrow \mathbb{K} p \mapsto (d_{x_1})^{a_1} \dots (d_{x_n})^{a_n}(p)(\zeta),$$

$$(1)$$

Then  $\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathbf{a}}$  acts on p first by differentiation and then by evaluation at the point  $\zeta$ .

In [23], Proposition 2.2 states that every element of the dual of R can be written as a formal power series of linear functions. More precisely, there is an isomorphism of  $\mathbb{K}$ -vector spaces between  $\hat{R}$  and  $\mathbb{K}[[\partial_{\zeta}]]$  given by the following correspondence:

$$\hat{R} \ni \lambda \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \Lambda \ = \ \sum_{\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{N}^n} \lambda \left( \prod (x_i - \zeta_i)^{a_i} \right) \frac{1}{\prod a_i!} \partial_{\zeta}^{\mathbf{a}} \in \mathbb{K}[[\partial_{\zeta}]].$$

For the rest of this work, unless otherwise stated, we assume that  $\zeta = 0$ . When it is clear from the context, we will use  $\partial^{\mathbf{a}}$  instead of  $\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathbf{a}}$ . Also  $\mathbb{K}[[\partial_{\zeta}]]$  denotes the  $\mathbb{K}$ -vector space of power series in the variables  $dx_1, \ldots, dx_n$ , which are linear forms that act on R as described in Equation 1. If it is clear from the context, we will use  $\mathbb{K}[[\partial_{\zeta}]]$  instead of  $\mathbb{K}[[\partial_{\zeta}]]$ . From now on, we identify  $\hat{R}$  with  $\mathbb{K}[[\partial_{\zeta}]]$ . Also we may use  $\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathbf{a}}$  instead of  $\frac{1}{\prod a_{i}!}\partial_{\zeta}^{\mathbf{a}}$  in order to simplify computations.

One can consider  $\hat{R}$  as an R-module, with multiplication by  $\partial_{\zeta}$  at *i*-th coordinate in  $\mathbb{K}[[\partial_{\zeta}]]$  acting as a derivation on polynomials. The orthogonal of an ideal I of R, i.e.,

$$I^{\perp} = \left\{ \lambda \in \hat{R} : \lambda(f) = 0 \quad \forall f \in I \right\}$$

can be seen as a linear subspace of  $\mathbb{K}[[\partial_{\zeta}]]$ , for every  $\zeta \in \mathbb{K}^n$ , as shown in [23], Proposition 2.6.

Among ideals in R, primary ideals corresponding to an isolated point have an important property. Unlike an arbitrary ideal, the ortoghonal of such a primary ideal I can be identified by elements of the orthogonal of Ithat admit only finitely many non-zero coefficients. In other words, their orthogonal contains only polynomials. In fact, not many ideals are primary ideals corresponding to isolated points. However, if the given ideal has a primary component corresponding to an isolated point, then we can forget about the other components and work only on that component. Therefore, we deal with the local properties at one single point, i.e., the point corresponding to that primary ideal. Based on the above observation, we let  $\zeta$  be an isolated point of the variety of I. Then the primary decomposition of I contains a primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$  whose radical is of the form  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta} =$  $\langle x_1 - \zeta_1, \ldots, x_n - \zeta_n \rangle$ . If  $\sqrt{I} = \mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ , then we call I an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal and usually we denote it by  $Q_{\zeta}$ . Marinari, Mora and Möller in [21] have shown that the  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideals are in one-to-one correspondence with the non-null vector spaces of finite dimension of  $\mathbb{K}[\partial]$ , which are stable under derivation. This work is attributed to Gröbner.

The following theorem and in particular its corollary are essential for the algorithms that will be presented later.

**Theorem 1.** (Theorem 3.2, [23]) Let I be an ideal of R with an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary component  $Q_{\zeta}$ . Then

$$(I^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}])^{\perp} = Q_{\zeta} \text{ and } Q^{\perp} = I^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}],$$

where  $(I^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}])^{\perp} = \Big\{ f \in R : \lambda(f) = 0 \quad \forall \lambda \in \langle D \rangle \Big\}.$ 

From now on, given an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$ , D will stand for a basis for  $Q_{\zeta}^{\perp}$ . Therefore  $\langle D \rangle = Q_{\zeta}^{\perp} = I^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}]$ .

**Corollary 2.** ([23]) If  $I = Q_{\zeta}$  is an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal, then we can identify  $I^{\perp}$  with a linear subspace of the polynomial ring  $\mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}]$ .

Therefore, we are after computing a basis for a finite-dimensional linear subspace of  $\mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}]$ .

#### **2.2 Definition and Properties**

Studying dual spaces, we define the directional multiplicity and show some of its properties. We also show how directional multiplicity gives information useful for elimination.

We first prove that the set of monomials that appear in elements of  $Q^{\perp}$  is exactly the set of monomials  $\partial^{\mathbf{a}}$  such that  $x^{\mathbf{a}} \notin Q$ , where  $x^{\mathbf{a}} = x_1^{a_1} \cdots x_n^{a_n}$ . Let us observe that

$$\partial^{\mathbf{a}}(x^{\mathbf{b}}) = \prod \delta_{a_i, b_j} \tag{2}$$

where  $\delta_{i,j}$  is the Kronecker delta. We prove the following proposition that first appeared without a proof in [19].

**Proposition 1** (Characterization of Monomials in  $Q^{\perp}$ ). Let  $Q = Q_{\zeta}$  be an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal. Consider  $Q^{\perp}$  as a sub-vector space of  $\mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}]$  as above. Then

$$\bigcup_{\Lambda \in Q^{\perp}} \operatorname{supp}(\Lambda) = \Big\{ \partial^{a} \mid x^{a} \notin Q \Big\},\$$

where  $\operatorname{supp}(\Lambda)$  is the set of monomials with nonzero coefficient in  $\Lambda$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 1, for all f

 $f \in Q \Leftrightarrow (\lambda(f) = 0 \text{ for all } \lambda \in Q^{\perp}).$ 

Now choose a basis  $D \subset \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  of  $Q^{\perp}$ , the above implies that for all f

$$f \in Q \Leftrightarrow (\lambda(f) = 0 \text{ for all } \lambda \in D).$$

We are ready to prove the thesis:

- " $\subseteq$ " If  $\partial^{\mathbf{a}}$  is in supp( $\Lambda$ ) then the monomial  $x^{\mathbf{a}}$  is not annihilated by  $\Lambda$  (see Equation 2), which implies  $x^{\mathbf{a}} \notin Q$ .
- " $\supseteq$ " If  $x^{\mathbf{a}} \notin Q$ , then there exists  $\lambda \in D$  such that  $\lambda(x^{\mathbf{a}}) \neq 0$ . Let  $\Lambda \in \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  be the differential operator corresponding to  $\lambda$ , so  $\Lambda(x^{\mathbf{a}}) \neq 0$ . By Equation 2, we know that  $m(x^{\mathbf{a}}) = 0$  for all monomials m in  $\operatorname{supp}(\Lambda)$  which are different from  $\partial^{\mathbf{a}}$ . Hence  $\partial^{\mathbf{a}}$  has to be in  $\operatorname{supp}(\Lambda)$ .

Now that we have a picture of the monomials in  $Q^{\perp}$ , we want to know how they look like under projection. The following result shows that the objects introduced so far, behave well in the framework of elimination theory.

**Proposition 2** ([12], Proposition 7.19). Let  $\pi$  be the linear map

$$\pi: \quad \mathbb{K}[[dx_1, \dots, dx_n]] \quad \longrightarrow \quad \mathbb{K}[[dx_2, \dots, dx_n]]$$
$$\Lambda \qquad \mapsto \quad \Lambda(0, dx_2, \dots, dx_n).$$

Also suppose that I is an ideal in R and  $I_{2,...,n} = I \cap \mathbb{K}[x_2,...,x_n]$  is its first elimination ideal. Then we have

$$\left(I_{2,\ldots,n}\right)^{\perp} = \pi\left(I^{\perp}\right).$$

We use the above proposition in order to prove the Dual Projection Lemma which shows how to get a basis of the dual space of the elimination ideal, having a basis for the dual space. Note that I in Proposition 2 can be any ideal, however the following lemma is only for the local case, i.e., when we are working on an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q = Q_{\zeta}$ .

**Lemma 3** (Dual Projection Lemma). With the hypotheses of Proposition 1, suppose that  $D = \{\Lambda_0, \Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_{l-1}\} \subset \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  is a basis of  $Q^{\perp}$ . Let  $Q_{2,\ldots,n} = Q \cap \mathbb{K}[x_2, \ldots, x_n]$ . Then

$$Q_{2,\dots,n}^{\perp} = \langle \Lambda_0 |_{dx_1=0}, \Lambda_1 |_{dx_1=0}, \dots, \Lambda_{l-1} |_{dx_1=0} \rangle.$$

*Proof.* We prove the lemma by proving two inclusions.

( $\supseteq$ ) For all  $i, (1 \leq i \leq l-1)$ , since  $\Lambda_i \in Q^{\perp}$ , therefore we have that  $\Lambda_i|_{dx_1=0} \in Q^{\perp}|_{dx_1=0}$ . But since by proposition 2,  $Q^{\perp}|_{dx_1=0} \in Q^{\perp}_{2,...,n}$ , then  $\Lambda_i|_{dx_1=0} \in Q^{\perp}_{2,...,n}$ . This means that  $\langle \Lambda_0|_{dx_1=0}, \Lambda_1|_{dx_1=0} \rangle \subseteq Q^{\perp}_{2,...,n}$ .

( $\subseteq$ ) Suppose that  $\Lambda' \in Q_{2,...,n}^{\perp}$ . Since by Proposition 2,  $Q^{\perp}|_{dx_1=0} \in Q_{2,...,n}^{\perp}$ , then  $\Lambda' \in Q^{\perp}|_{dx_1=0}$ . Therefore, there exists a  $\Lambda \in Q^{\perp}$ , such that  $\Lambda' = \Lambda|_{dx_1=0}$ . We know that  $Q^{\perp} = \langle \Lambda_0, \Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_{l-1} \rangle$ . So, there exist  $c_i \in \mathbb{K}, (1 \leq i \leq l-1)$ , such that  $\Lambda = \sum_{i=0}^{l-1} c_i \Lambda_i$ , and therefore  $\Lambda|_{dx_1=0} = \sum_{i=0}^{l-1} c_i \Lambda_i|_{dx_1=0}$ , which means that  $\Lambda' = \sum_{i=0}^{l-1} c_i \Lambda_i|_{dx_1=0}$ . Therefore

$$\Lambda' \in \langle \Lambda_0 |_{dx_1=0}, \Lambda_1 |_{dx_1=0}, \dots, \Lambda_{l-1} |_{dx_1=0} \rangle.$$

Thus,  $Q_{2,\ldots,n}^{\perp} \subseteq \langle \Lambda_0 |_{dx_1=0}, \Lambda_1 |_{dx_1=0}, \ldots, \Lambda_{l-1} |_{dx_1=0} \rangle.$ 

**Corollary 4.** Let  $D = \{\Lambda_0, \Lambda_1, \dots, \Lambda_{l-1}\} \subset \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  be a basis of  $Q^{\perp}$ , and  $Q_i = Q \cap \mathbb{K}[x_i]$ , for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ . Denote by  $\Lambda|_{dx_i \neq 0}$  the polynomial obtained by substituting  $dx_j = 0$  for  $1 \leq i \neq j \leq n$  in  $\Lambda$ . Then

$$Q_i^{\perp} = \langle \Lambda_0 |_{dx_i \neq 0}, \Lambda_1 |_{dx_i \neq 0}, \dots, \Lambda_{l-1} |_{dx_i \neq 0} \rangle$$

*Moreover, there exists*  $\mu_i \in \mathbb{N}$  *such that* 

$$Q_i^{\perp} = \left\langle 1, dx_i, \dots, dx_i^{\mu_i - 1} \right\rangle.$$

Now we have the necessary tools to define the notion of directional multiplicity.

**Definition 5** (Directional Multiplicity). Let  $\zeta$  be an isolated point in the variety of an ideal I and  $Q_{\zeta}$  be the corresponding  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary component. Using the notation of Corollary 4, for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , we define the *i*-th directional multiplicity of  $\zeta$  to be  $\mu_i$ .

In order to give an intuition of directional multiplicity, we take a look at the quotient  $R/Q_{\zeta}$ , which we will denote by  $B_{\zeta}$ . If we consider this quotient as a vector space, finding a basis for such a quotient was the task given to Buchberger for his PhD thesis by Gröbner, which led to the invention of Gröbner bases [5]. Let us recall that the multiplicity of  $\zeta$  is defined as  $dim_{\mathbb{K}} R/Q_{\zeta}$ . We will denote the multiplicity by  $\mu(\zeta)$  or simply by  $\mu$  if  $\zeta$  is clear from the context. Another notion that is highly studied in the literature and describes an intrinsic parameter of an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal is the *Nil-index*, e.g. see work in [17].

**Definition 6.** The Nil-index of an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$  is the maximum integer  $\mathcal{N} \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}^{\mathcal{N}} \notin Q_{\zeta}$ .

There is a tight connection between the dual space of  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideals and their Nil-index.

**Lemma 7.** (Lemma 3.3, [23]) The maximum degree of the elements of  $I^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}]$  is equal to the Nil-index of  $Q_{\zeta}$ .

Theorem 1 and Lemma 7 show that we can find the monomials of D by searching among those monomials of  $I^{\perp}$  that have degree at most the Nil-index, i.e., there exists a degree bound over the monomials of D. These monomials are actually the monomials under the *Extended Buchberger Diagram* which is defined below.

**Definition 8** (Extended Buchberger Diagram). The Extended Buchberger Diagram of an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$  is obtained by considering all the monomials that appear in a basis of the dual space of  $Q_{\zeta}$ .

We can think of the Nil-index of  $Q_{\zeta}$  as the largest degree of the monomials under the extended Buchberger diagram. Figure 1 shows the extended Buchberger diagram and all of its monomials for Example 12.

Note that the monomials under the Buchberger diagram with respect to an ordering form a vector space basis for R/Q. They include some monomials in a basis of  $Q^{\perp}$ , but they do not necessarily include all the monomials in D. In particular, they may not include the highest powers of  $dx_i$ , i.e., the monomials corresponding to the directional multiplicities. However in the extended Buchberger diagram, one can see all the possible monomials in D, which are all the monomials that do now appear in Q, which include all the monomials in the Buchberger diagram of Q.

The above comments are illustrated in Figure 2. The black dots show a basis for R/Q, while the white dots are the rest of the monomials in the basis of  $Q^{\perp}$ , see also [20] for a similar diagram. Also Figures 3 and 4 show the quotient of the elimination ideal with respect to x and the quotient of the elimination ideal with respect to y, respectively. In Figure 3, black dots are the basis for  $Q_2^{\perp}$  and the white dots are the rest of the monomials in the



Figure 1: Extended Buchberger Diagram for Example 12



Figure 2: Extended Buchberger diagram vs a basis for  $B_{\zeta}$  wrt a degree ordering for Example 12



Figure 3: Extended Buchberger diagram vs directional multiplicity wrt x for Example 12



Figure 4: Extended Buchberger diagram vs directional multiplicity wrt y for Example 12

dual basis. In Figure 4, black dots are the basis for  $Q_1^{\perp}$  and the white dots are the rest of the monomials in the dual basis.

Considering the above figures, one can see that the extended Buchberger diagram includes the Buchberger diagram with respect to every order.  $\mathcal{N}$  is a bound for the degree of the members of a Gröbner basis with respect to every order. Directional multiplicity with respect to an axis is the largest intersection point of the extended Buchberger diagram with that axis. The Buchberger diagram does not necessarily have an intersection with the hyperplane  $x_1 + \cdots + x_n = \mathcal{N}$ , but the extended Buchberger diagram does have at least a point in common with that hyperplane.

**Example 9.** Let  $I = \langle f_1 = x^8 + y^5, f_2 = x^7 y^4 \rangle$ . The origin is a root of the system with multiplicity  $\mu = 67$ . We have that  $\mathcal{N} = 18$ , while  $\mu_1 = 15, \mu_2 = 9$ . The reduced Gröbner basis for I with respect to the lexicographic order (x > y) is  $\{f_1 = x^8 + y^5, f_2 = x^7 y^4, g_y = y^9\}$ , and with respect to lexicographic order (y > x) is  $\{f_1 = y^5 + x^8, f_2 = y^4 x^7, g_x = x^{15}\}$ , where  $g_y$  and  $g_x$  are the generators of the elimination ideal with respect to the lexicographic orders x > y and y > x respectively.

These observations give us the intuition that the directional multiplicities are at most as large as the Nilindex. Also their product gives us the volume of a cuboid which contains the Buchberger diagram. The following statements make the comments above more precise.

**Remark 10.** One can easily see that the Nil-index is as large as the multiplicity and also the multiplicity is bounded by the number of lattice points in the n-simplex. The simple conclusion of the definition of  $\mathcal{N}$  and  $\mu$  is that

$$\mathcal{N} \leq \mu \leq \text{Number of Lattice point in the n-simplex} = \binom{\mathcal{N} + n}{n}.$$

**Proposition 3.** Let  $\mu$  be the multiplicity of an isolated point  $\zeta$ . Then

- $\mu_i \leq \mu$  for every  $1 \leq i \leq n$ .
- $\mu \leq \prod_{1 \leq i \leq n} \mu_i.$ •  $\sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i - n + 1 \leq \mu.$

*Proof.* For the first part, recall that  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}} Q_{\zeta}^{\perp} = \mu$  and that  $\mu_i$  is the dimension of a vector subspace of  $Q_{\zeta}^{\perp}$ . Thus  $\mu_i \leq \mu$ .

For the second part, first remember that for every  $1 \le i \le n$ ,  $\mu_i$  is the largest degree of the elements in  $Q_{\zeta}^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{K}[d_i]$ . This means that  $\mu_i + 1$  is the largest possible degree of  $x_i$  in R/Q. Since  $\mu = \dim_{\mathbb{K}} R/Q$ , we conclude that  $\mu \le \prod_{1 \le i \le n} \mu_i$ .

For the third statement, note that as argued above,  $dx_i^{a_i} \in Q_{\zeta}^{\perp}$  if and only if  $a_i < \mu_i$ . This means that  $x_i^{a_i} \notin Q_{\zeta}$  if and only if  $a_i < \mu_i$ . Now, for all  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , let  $A_i := \{1, x_i, \dots, x_i^{\mu_i - 1}\}$ . Then,  $\langle \bigcup A_i \rangle \subseteq R/Q_{\zeta}$  as vector spaces. Note that the elements of  $\bigcup A_i$  are linearly independent. Then  $\dim \langle \bigcup A_i \rangle = \sum \mu_i - n + 1 \leq \dim R/Q_{\zeta} = \mu$  and the result follows.

**Proposition 4.** Let  $\mathcal{N}$  be the Nil-index of  $Q_{\zeta}$ . Then

- $\mathcal{N} \ge \mu_i$  for all  $1 \le i \le n$ ,
- $\mathcal{N} \leq \sum_{1 \leq i \leq n} \mu_i n$

*Proof.* According to the definition of the Nil-index we have  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}^{\mathcal{N}} \notin Q_{\zeta}$  and  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}^{\mathcal{N}+1} \subseteq Q_{\zeta}$ . Since  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}^{\mathcal{N}} = \langle x_1 - \zeta_1, \dots, x_n - \zeta_n \rangle^{\mathcal{N}}$ , therefore  $(x_i - \zeta_i)^{\mathcal{N}} \notin Q_{\zeta}$  and  $(x_i - \zeta_i)^{\mathcal{N}+1} \in Q_{\zeta}$ . By the definition of  $\mu_i$  and the Proposition 1,  $dx_i^{\mu_i}(x_i - \zeta_i)^{\mathcal{N}} = 0$  and  $dx_i^{\mu_i}(x_i - \zeta_i)^{\mathcal{N}-1} \neq 0$ . Therefore  $\mu_i \leq \mathcal{N}$ . For the second part, note that for all  $x_i, d_{x_i}^{\mu_i-1} \in supp(Q_{\zeta}^{\perp})$  and  $d_{x_i}^{\mu_i} \notin supp(Q_{\zeta}^{\perp})$ . Therefore by Proposition

For the second part, note that for all  $x_i$ ,  $d_{x_i}^{\mu_i-1} \in supp(Q_{\zeta}^{\perp})$  and  $d_{x_i}^{\mu_i} \notin supp(Q_{\zeta}^{\perp})$ . Therefore by Proposition 1,  $x_i^{\mu_i-1} \notin Q_{\zeta}$  and  $x_i^{\mu_i} \in Q_{\zeta}$ . Consider  $A = \{\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{N}^n | |\mathbf{a}| = \sum(\mu_i - 1) + 1\}$ . By the Pigeonhole principle, there exists an  $i, 1 \leq i \leq n$ , such that  $x_i^{\mu_i} | x^{\mathbf{a}}$ . Therefore  $x^{\mathbf{a}} \in Q_{\zeta}$  for all  $\mathbf{a} \in A$ , which implies that  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}^{|\mathbf{a}|} \subseteq Q_{\zeta}$  and  $\mathcal{N} < |\mathbf{a}| = 1 + \sum(\mu_i - 1)$ . The result follows by minimality of  $\mathcal{N}$ .

**Remark 11.** The inequalities in the Propositions 3 and 4 are sharp. An example that shows this, is the univariate case, where  $I = Q_{\zeta} \in \mathbb{K}[x]$ . In this case the Nil-index of  $I_1 = \mu_1$  is equal to its *i*-th directional multiplicity, which is equal to the degree of  $(x - \zeta)$  in g, the monic generator of the elimination ideal. The latter doesn't happen by accident. We will discuss more about this in Section 4.2.

A geometric interpretation of the *i*-th directional multiplicity at an intersection point is be the number of instances of the intersection point that can be seen when we look at the intersection point in the direction parallel to the  $x_i$  axis. Some of the presented inequalities are direct consequences of the definitions, and reveal interesting properties of this new notion. In particular, knowing the directional multiplicities we can deduce information about the multiplicity or the Nil-index. Thus, the notion of directional multiplicity is, in this sense, a refinement of multiplicity and Nil-index. Moreover, in some applications, this refined information is crucial, as described in Section 4.1.

## **3** Algorithms for Dual Basis and Directional Multiplicity

In this section we present modifications of Macaulay's algorithm and Mourrain's integration method for computing a basis for the dual space efficiently. These algorithms give us in addition the directional multiplicities. Before presenting our modifications, we review the two approaches for computing the dual space of an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary component of a given ideal  $I = \langle f_1, \ldots, f_e \rangle \subseteq \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ . We refer the reader to [20] for a recent overview. These algorithms compute a basis D for  $Q^{\perp}$  degree by degree. Let  $D_t$  be the subset of  $\mathbb{K}[\partial_{\zeta}]$  that contains degree t elements of D. Then  $D_0 = \langle 1 \rangle$ . The algorithms extend  $D_t$  into  $D_{t+1}$ , a basis for the degree t + 1 part of  $Q^{\perp}$ , until  $D_t = D_{t+1}$ . Then we can conclude that  $D = D_t$  and we have the basis D. We set  $d_i := dx_i$  for presentation reasons in what follows.

### 3.1 Macaulay's Algorithm

Macaulay's algorithm [18] is the first algorithm for computing a basis for the dual space  $Q^{\perp}$ . It is based on a simple condition that the coefficients of the elements of the dual space must fulfill. Let  $\Lambda = \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \lambda_{\alpha} d^{\alpha}$ , where

we use the multi-index notation with  $d = d_1 d_2 \cdots d_n$ . Then  $\Lambda(f) = 0$  for all  $f \in I$  if and only if  $\Lambda(x^{\beta} f_i) = 0$ for all  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$  and  $1 \leq i \leq e$ . This observation, for  $1 \leq |\beta| \leq \mathcal{N}$ , reduces checking that  $\Lambda(f) = 0$  for an infinite number of polynomials f into checking the finitely many conditions that are given in the right hand side. Namely, it suffices to impose conditions on  $\lambda_{\alpha}$ 's, the coefficients of  $\Lambda$ . For  $1 \leq |\beta| \leq \mathcal{N}$ , we obtain a system of linear homogeneous equations and construct the corresponding matrix. The rows of this matrix are labeled by  $x^{\beta} f_i$  and the columns are labeled by  $d^{\alpha}$ . Every element in the kernel of this matrix is a coefficient vector, corresponding to an element of D.

Macaulay's algorithm starts with  $D_0 = \{d^0 = 1\}$ . At step t, the algorithm computes the polynomials  $\Lambda(x^{\alpha}f_i)$  for deg $(\Lambda) \leq t$  and constructs the coefficient matrix. The kernel of this matrix contains coefficient vectors of elements of a basis  $D_t$ . If  $D_t = D_{t-1}$ , then the algorithm terminates, otherwise continues with computing  $D_{t+1}$ .

We illustrate the algorithm by two examples.

Algorithm 1: Macaulay's Algorithm

Input: A basis for an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$ Output: A basis for the dual of  $Q_{\zeta}$ def ComputeBasis:  $D_{old} = \emptyset$   $D_{new} = \{\Lambda = d^0 = 1\}$ while  $D_{old} \neq D_{new}$ :  $D_{old} = D_{new}$ Construct matrix  $M_{new}$ , the coefficient matrix of  $D_{new}$   $D_{new} = \operatorname{kernel}(M_{new})$ return  $D_{new}$ 

Example 12. Let

$$f_1 = x^2 + (y-1)^2 - 1$$
  
$$f_2 = y^2.$$

Then for the root (0,0), we have that

$$M_1 = \frac{f_1}{f_2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -2\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3)

The kernel of this matrix yields the basis  $D_1 = \{1, d_1\}$ . In the second step, we have

from which we have  $D_2 = \{1, d_1, 2d_1^2 + d_2\}$ . The algorithm runs until step 4, during which we have a matrix of size  $20 \times 15$ , and

$$D_3 = D_4 = \{1, d_1, 2d_1^2 + d_2, 2d_1^3 + d_1d_2\}$$

Thus,  $\mu = 4, \mu_1 = 4$  and  $\mu_2 = 2$ .

Example 13. Let

$$f_1 = y^3$$
  

$$f_2 = x^2 y^2$$
  

$$f_3 = x^4 - x^3 y.$$

The matrices in the first, second and third steps of the algorithm are zero matrices. So we have  $D_1 = \{1, d_1, d_2\}, D_2 = \{1, d_1, d_2, d_1^2, d_1 d_2, d_2^2\}$  and

$$D_3 = \{1, d_1, d_2, d_1^2, d_1d_2, d_2^2, d_1^3, d_1d_2^2, d_1^2d_2\}.$$

The computation goes on till step 5, during which we have a matrix of size  $45 \times 21$  whose kernel gives the dual basis

$$D_4 = D_5 = \{1, d_1, d_2, d_1^2, d_1d_2, d_2^2, d_1^3, d_1d_2^2, d_1^2d_2, d_1^4 + d_1^3d_2\}.$$

Thus,  $\mu = 10, \mu_1 = 5$  and  $\mu_2 = 3$ .

#### 3.2 Integration Method

Macaulay's algorithm is not efficient. In every step it builds new matrices which include previously constructed matrices, thus some computations are repeated.

In [23], Mourrain suggested another algorithm, which builds smaller matrices, further improved in [19]. We will demonstrate the improved version in this section. We first present the necessary background.

Given a basis for the vector space  $B_{\zeta} = \mathbb{K}[x_1, \dots, x_n]/Q_{\zeta}$ , one can construct a basis D for  $Q^{\perp}$  and vice versa. This can be deduced from the constructions in the work of Macaulay in [18]. The work of Mourrain in [23], shows the construction explicitly. Moreover, Mourrain has shown how to construct a Gröbner basis for  $Q_{\zeta}$  having a basis for  $Q^{\perp}$ . Below we will explain the construction of D from a basis of  $B_{\zeta}$  as in [19] in brief.

For every  $\Lambda \in Q^{\perp}$ , let  $Supp(\Lambda)$  be the set of monomials that have a non-zero coefficient in  $\Lambda$ . Proposition 1 says that  $\partial^{\mathbf{a}} \in Supp(\Lambda)$  if and only if  $x^{\mathbf{a}} \notin Q_{\zeta}$  for  $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ . Let us denote by  $Supp(Q^{\perp})$  the union of supports of all elements of  $Q^{\perp}$  and by s its cardinality. Then

$$Supp(Q^{\perp}) = \bigcup_{\Lambda \in Q^{\perp}} \{Supp(\Lambda)\} = \{\partial^{\mathbf{a}} | x^{\mathbf{a}} \notin Q_{\zeta} \}.$$

Since the degree of the monomials in  $Supp(Q^{\perp})$  is bounded by the Nil-index of  $Q_{\zeta}$ , the above sets are finite. One can find a basis  $B = \{x^{\beta_1}, \ldots, x^{\beta_{\mu}}\}$  for  $B_{\zeta}$  among the monomials in the above set. Then for every monomial  $x^{\gamma_j} \in Supp(Q^{\perp})$  such that  $x^{\gamma_j} \notin B$  we can write

$$x^{\gamma_j} = \sum_{i=1}^{\mu} \lambda_{ij} x^{\beta_i} \mod Q_{\zeta}.$$

Now let

 $\Lambda_i = d^{\beta_i} + \sum_{j=1}^{s-\mu} \lambda_{ij} d^{\gamma_j}.$ (5)

Then  $\{\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_\mu\}$  is a basis for  $Q^{\perp}$ .

Given a basis D for  $Q^{\perp}$ , consider the matrix  $M \in \mathbb{K}^{\mu \times s}$  of the coefficients of the elements of this basis. Every set of  $\mu$  independent columns of M gives a basis for  $B_{\zeta}$ . Let G be the matrix whose columns are the columns of M indexed by  $d^{\beta_i}$ . Then

$$G^{-1}M = \begin{cases} \beta_1 & \dots & \beta_{\mu} & \gamma_1 & \dots & \gamma_{s-\mu} \\ \Lambda'_1 & 1 & 0 & \lambda_{1,1} & \dots & \lambda_{1,s-\mu} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 1 & \lambda_{\mu,1} & \dots & \lambda_{\mu,s-\mu} \end{cases},$$
(6)

which gives a basis of the form 5.

Having the above matrix construction, we are ready to explain Mourrain's algorithm. The algorithm is based on *integrating* elements of  $Q_{t-1}^{\perp}$  in order to generate the elements of  $Q_t^{\perp}$  with symbolic coefficients, and then applying necessary and sufficient conditions on the generated elements, gives a system of equations for the coefficients. Similar to Macaulay's algorithm, each vector in the kernel of the matrix determines the coefficients of an element in  $Q_t^{\perp}$ . The following definition is useful in what follows.

**Definition 14.** For every  $\Lambda \in \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  and  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , denote by  $\int_i \Lambda$  the *i*-th integral of  $\Lambda$ , which is defined as follows.

$$\int_{i} \Lambda = \Phi \in \mathbb{K}[\partial] \text{ such that } d_{i}(\Phi) = \Lambda \text{ and } \Phi(d_{1}, \dots, d_{i-1}, d_{i} = 0, d_{i+1}, \dots, d_{n}) = 0$$

The next theorem provides a generic, compact representation of the dual elements by exploiting the properties of derivation in the dual space.

**Theorem 15** ([23, 19]). Let  $\{\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m\}$  be the basis  $D_{t-1}$  with the coefficient matrix of the form 6, yielding the standard basis  $B_t = \{x^{\beta_i} | 1 \leq i \leq m\}$ , i.e., the elements of the basis B that are of degree up to t. An element  $\Lambda \in \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  with no constant term is in  $D_t$  if and only if it is of the form

$$\Lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_{ik} \int_{k} \Lambda_i(d_1, \dots, d_k, 0, \dots, 0),$$
(7)

where  $\lambda_{ij} \in \mathbb{K}$ , and the following conditions hold

1. for all  $1 \leq k < l \leq n$ ,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{1} \lambda_{ik} d_l(\Lambda_i) - \sum_{i=1}^{1} \lambda_{il} d_k(\Lambda_i) = 0.$$
(8)

2. for all  $1 \leq k \leq e$ ,

$$\Lambda(f_k) = 0 \tag{9}$$

*3. for all*  $1 \leq i \leq m$ *,* 

$$\Lambda(x^{\beta_i}) = 0. \tag{10}$$

The first condition implies that the new elements  $\Lambda$  that have been introduced are stable by derivation. The second condition comes from the fact that  $\Lambda$  must be inside  $Q_{\zeta}^{\perp}$ . Based on Theorem 15, having  $D_{t-1} = \{\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m\}$ , we have an algorithmic way to compute  $D_t$ . Consider  $\Lambda$  from the theorem with symbolic coefficients  $\lambda_{ik}$ . Plug  $\Lambda$  into the conditions of the theorem and obtain a system of equations. In step t the corresponding matrix will look like below.

$$\begin{aligned}
 \lambda_{11}p_{11} & \dots & \lambda_{1n}p_{1n} & \dots & \lambda_{e1}p_{e1} & \dots & \lambda_{en}p_{en} \\
 \vdots & & & \\
 \Lambda(f_e) & & & & \\
 Condition 8 & & & & \\
 Condition 10 & & & & & \\
 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(11)

By abuse of notation and for simplifying the presentation, we use the symbolic coefficients  $\lambda_{ij}$  instead of the product of  $\lambda_{ij}$  by the polynomials  $p_{ij} = \int_j \Lambda_i(d_1, \ldots, d_j, 0, \ldots, 0)$  in order to label the columns of  $M_t$ . The kernel of  $M_t$  will give us the possible values for  $\lambda_{ij}$ .

The first two conditions already guarantee that  $\Lambda \in D_t$  [23]. However, we might have that  $\Lambda \in D_{t-1}$  as well. This means that we reproduce the elements of the previous step. The third condition which has been introduced in [19], gives us a sufficient condition for having  $\Lambda \in D_t \setminus D_{t-1}$ . This helps with avoiding repetition of the computations that have been done in the previous steps by adding new rows to the matrix, which in some cases may lead to removing some column. It also provides a method to compute a basis D at the same time as a dual basis for  $B_{\zeta}$ .

Algorithm 2: Integration method

Input: A basis for an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$ Output: A basis for  $R/Q_{\zeta}$  and a basis D for  $Q_{\zeta}^{\perp}$ def ComputeBasis:  $D_{old} = \emptyset$   $D_{new} = \{\Lambda = d^0 = 1\}$ while  $D_{old} \neq D_{new}$ :  $D_{old} = D_{new}$   $\Lambda := \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_{ik} \int_k \Lambda_i(d_1, \dots, d_k, 0, \dots, 0)$ for all  $1 \leq k \leq l \leq n$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{ik} d_l(\Lambda_i) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{il} d_k(\Lambda_i) = 0$ for all  $1 \leq k \leq e, \Lambda(f_k) = 0$ for all  $1 \leq k \leq m, \Lambda(x^{\beta_i}) = 0$ Construct matrix  $M_{new}$ , the coefficient matrix of  $\Lambda$ Compute a basis  $K_{new}$  for kernel $(M_{new})$   $D_{new} = D_{old} \bigcup K_{new}$ return new

Below, we do the computations for Examples 12 and 13, first without and then with considering Condition 10.

Example 16 (Computations without Condition 10 for Example 12).

$$M_{1} = \frac{\Lambda(f_{1})}{\Lambda(f_{2})} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (12)

which is the same as the matrix in Macaulay's algorithm, and  $D_1 = \{1, d_1\}$ . Continuing into the second step  $(\Lambda \in D_2)$ , we apply the first two conditions on  $\Lambda = \lambda_1 d_1 + \lambda_2 d_2 + \lambda_3 d_1^2 + \lambda_4 (d_1 d_2)$ , which gives us the matrix

$$M_{2} = \begin{array}{c} d_{1} & d_{2} & d_{1}^{2} & d_{1}d_{2} \\ Condition8 & \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(13)  
$$M_{2} = \begin{array}{c} \Lambda(f_{1}) & \\ \Lambda(f_{2}) & \\ \end{array}$$

which has two columns less that the second matrix of Macaulay's algorithm. We have  $D_2 = \{1, 2d_1^2 + d_2, d_1\}$ . The third and fourth step matrices are also smaller than the ones in Macaulay's algorithm.

**Example 17** (Computations for Example 12 with Condition 10). I this case the matrix of  $D_1$  is the same, while the matrices for  $D_2$  and  $D_3$  are different.

$$M_{1} = \frac{\Lambda(f_{1})}{\Lambda(f_{2})} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(14)

which is the same as the matrix in Macaulay's algorithm, and  $D_1 = \{1, d_1\}$ . In step 2 we have

$$M_{2} = \begin{array}{c} Condition10\\ Condition8\\ \Lambda(f_{1})\\ \Lambda(f_{2}) \end{array} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -2 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(15)

Condition 10 implies that  $\lambda_1 = 0$ . Therefore we can remove column one from  $M_2$ .

**Example 18** (Computations with and without Condition 10 for Example 13).  $D_0 = \{1\}$ . If we do the computations without considering Condition 10, then in step 2 of the integration method, we will reach to a  $3 \times 2$  zero matrix, which has one column less than the matrix in Macaulay's algorithm. The matrix in step 3 is a  $3 \times 5$  zero matrix, which is much smaller than the matrix in Macaulay's method.

Re-doing the computations considering Condition 10, we get  $M_0$  and  $M_1$  same as above. In step 2,  $M_2$  is a matrix of size  $5 \times 5$ . The two extra rows in this case comes from Condition 10. However each of the two last rows simply will have one nonzero coordinate, which implies that two of the coefficients  $\lambda_{ij}$  are zero. Having the value of a coefficient equal to zero means that we can remove the corresponding column from the matrix and therefore the size of the matrix will finally be  $3 \times 3$ , smaller than the previous one. In step 3, applying Condition 10, we will get a matrix with 4 columns instead of 9 columns in the previous case.

In the next subsection we will show modifications on the above algorithms in order to make them more efficient for computing the directional multiplicities.

#### **3.3** Modified Algorithms for Dual Basis

In this subsection we present modifications to the integration method and Macaulay's algorithms, which make computations more efficient. In particular, we give a more efficient criterion than Condition 10 in the integration method.

We will use the following notation throughout subsection 3.3. We denote the Nil-index by  $\mathcal{N}$ . Let t be a fixed number between 1 and  $\mathcal{N}$ . We refer to the current step of the algorithm as step t. Same as previous sections, D is a basis for  $Q^{\perp}$  and therefore  $\langle D \rangle = Q^{\perp}$ .  $D_t$  stands for the degree t part of a basis of  $Q^{\perp}$ . Obviously  $\langle D_t \rangle$  is a sub-vector space of  $\langle D \rangle$ . If we assume that  $D_t$  is equipped with a total degree term order, e.g. degree lexicographic ordering, then the leading term of an element  $\Lambda$  of  $D_t$  is denoted by  $lt(\Lambda)$ . If v is a column of a matrix M, then M - v denotes the matrix obtained by deleting the column v from M.

#### 3.3.1 Modifications on Integration Method

Let  $M_t$  denote the matrix in step t of the integration method and  $\widetilde{M}_t$  denote the matrix that is constructed in step t without considering Condition 10. We assume that  $D_{t-1} = \{\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m\}$  is already computed in step t - 1.

In the integration method, columns of  $M_t$  (similarly for  $M_t$ ) are labeled by the  $\lambda_{ij}$ 's appearing in  $\Lambda$  (see Equation 11). Fix one of the  $\lambda_{ij}$ 's and call it  $\lambda$ . We denote by  $v_{\lambda}$  the column of  $M_t$  (similarly for  $\widetilde{M}_t$ ) that is indexed by  $\lambda$ . Then  $p_{\lambda}$  denotes the corresponding polynomial.

A basis D of  $Q^{\perp}$  is in one to one correspondence with a basis K for  $Ker(\widetilde{M_N})$  (also  $D_t$  is in one to one correspondence with a basis  $K_t$  for  $Ker(\widetilde{M_t})$ ). In step t, this correspondence is reduced to a correspondence between  $D_t$  and  $K_t$ , a basis of  $Ker(\widetilde{M_t})$ ). If there exists a vector  $q \in K_t$ , for which the coordinate corresponding to  $\lambda$  in this vector is nonzero, then we say that  $v_{\lambda}$  is active in  $D_t$ . In case we explicitly know such a vector q, i.e., a particular element of the kernel corresponding to an element E of  $D_t$ , then we say that  $v_{\lambda}$  is active in E. Since,  $M_{t-1}$  is a sub-matrix of  $M_t$  and  $\widetilde{M_{t-1}}$  is a sub-matrix of  $\widetilde{M_t}$ , if it is clear from the context, by a column of  $M_{t-1}$  (respectively  $\widetilde{M_{t-1}}$ ) we will refer to the corresponding column in  $M_t$  (respectively  $\widetilde{M_t}$ ) as well. We work on  $\widetilde{M_t}$  rather than  $M_t$  in this section, although many of our arguments are correct for  $M_t$  as well.

We start with a proposition that provides us with an improvement on the integration method, related to Condition 10.

**Proposition 5.** Let  $M_t, M_{t-1}, D_t, \Lambda_i \ (1 \le i \le m), \lambda, p_\lambda \text{ and } v_\lambda \text{ be as above.}$ *Then the following hold.* 

- 1. If  $v_{\lambda}$  is a column of  $\widetilde{M}_t$ , then  $v_{\lambda}$  is active in  $D_t$  if and only if  $v_{\lambda}$  can be reduced to zero by other columns of  $\widetilde{M}_t$ .
- 2. For all  $1 \leq i \leq m$ , if  $v_{\lambda_i}$  is active in  $\Lambda_i$ ,  $K'_{t_i}$  is a basis for  $Ker(\widetilde{M}_t v_{\lambda_i})$  and  $D'_{t_i}$  is the set of its corresponding dual elements, then  $\{\Lambda_i\} \cup D'_{t_i}$  is a basis for the degree t part of  $Q^{\perp}$ . Moreover, if  $v_{\lambda_i}$  is active in  $\Lambda_i$ , but is not active in  $\Lambda_j$ ,  $1 \leq j \neq i \leq m$ , then there exists a basis  $D'_{t_i}$  such that  $\Lambda_j \in D'_{t_i}, j \neq i$ .
- 3. Let  $K_{t_{1...m}}$  be a basis for  $Ker(\widetilde{M}_t v_{\lambda_1} \cdots v_{\lambda_m})$  and  $D_{t_{1...m}}$  be the set of its corresponding dual elements. For all  $1 \leq i \leq m$ , if  $v_{\lambda_i}$  is active in  $\Lambda_i$ , but is not active in  $1, \ldots, \Lambda_{i-1}$ , then  $D_{t-1} \cup D_{t_{1...m}}$  is a basis for the degree t part of  $Q^{\perp}$ .
- *Proof.* 1. Let  $v_{\lambda}, v_1, \ldots, v_k$  denote the columns of  $M_t$  and  $p_{\lambda}, p_1, \ldots, p_k$  be the polynomials labeling the columns of  $\widetilde{M}_t$ . Then  $v_{\lambda}$  can be reduced to zero by  $v_1, \ldots, v_k$  if and only if there exist  $c_1, \ldots, c_k \in \mathbb{K}$ , such that  $v_{\lambda} = c_1v_1 + \cdots + c_kv_k$ , or equivalently  $v_{\lambda} c_1v_1 \cdots c_kv_k = 0$ . This holds if and only if  $q := (1, c_1, \cdots, c_k) \in K_t$ , which holds if and only if  $\Lambda' := p_{\lambda} c_1p_1 \cdots c_kp_k \in D_t$  (Note that this is exactly the fact that  $\Lambda'$  in  $D_t$  corresponds to  $q \in K_t$ ). The latter is the case if and only if  $v_{\lambda}$  is active in  $\Lambda'$ , or equivalently  $v_{\lambda}$  is active in  $D_t$ .
  - Fix 1 ≤ i ≠ j ≤ m and let q<sub>i</sub> and q<sub>j</sub> be the elements of K<sub>t</sub> corresponding to Λ<sub>i</sub> and Λ<sub>j</sub> in D<sub>t</sub>, respectively. First we prove that for all Λ' ∈ D<sub>t</sub> if Λ' ≠ Λ<sub>i</sub>, then Λ' ∈ ⟨D'<sub>ti</sub> ∪ {Λ<sub>i</sub>}⟩. Let q' be the corresponding elements of Λ' in K<sub>t</sub>. If v<sub>λi</sub> is not active in Λ', then by part 1 it cannot be reduced to zero by the active columns in Λ'. So the column v<sub>λi</sub> is not involved in computing Λ' via column reducing in M<sub>t</sub>. So Λ' can be computed via column reducing in M<sub>t</sub> v<sub>λ</sub>. Let q' be the corresponding element to Λ' in Ker(M<sub>t</sub>). Then q' ∈ Ker(M<sub>t</sub> v<sub>λ</sub>). This means that Λ' ∈ ⟨D'<sub>ti</sub>⟩.

If  $v_{\lambda_i}$  is active in  $\Lambda'$ , then we prove that there exists a  $\Lambda''$  in  $D'_{t_i}$  such that  $\Lambda' = \Lambda_i + \Lambda''$ . This is because of the following. Let  $q' \in K_t$  be the element corresponding to  $\Lambda' \in D_t$ , such that that the first coordinate of q' corresponds to  $v_{\lambda_i}$ . Take  $q' = (1, b_1, \ldots, b_k)$ . Then we have that  $v_{\lambda_i} + b_1v_1 + b_2v_2 + \cdots + b_kv_k = 0$ , where the columns  $v_1, \ldots, v_k$  are as in the proof of part 1. Also again as in the proof of the part 1,  $v_{\lambda_i} = c_1v_1 + \cdots + c_kv_k$ . Therefore  $(b_1 - c_1)v_1 + \cdots + (b_k - c_k)v_k = 0$ , which means that  $(0, b_1 - c_1, \ldots, b_k - c_k) \in Ker(\widetilde{M}_t)$ , and therefore  $q'' := (b_1 - c_1, \ldots, b_k - c_k) \in Ker(\widetilde{M}_t - v_\lambda)$ . So one can construct a basis  $K'_{t_i}$  in such a way that  $q'' \in K'_{t_i}$ . Let  $\Lambda''$  be the member of  $D'_{t_i}$  corresponding to q''. Then  $\Lambda' = \Lambda_i + \Lambda''$ .

Secondly we note that if  $v_{\lambda_i}$  is not active in  $\Lambda_j$ , for  $1 \le j \ne i \le m$ , then by the above argument, one can compute a basis  $K'_{t_i}$  (and respectively,  $D'_{t_i}$ ) in such a way that  $\Lambda_j \in D'_{t_i}$ .

So every element of  $D_t$  can be obtained from  $\Lambda_i$  and an element of  $K'_{t_i}$  and therefore  $\langle D_t \rangle \subseteq \langle \{\Lambda_i\} \cup D'_{t_i} \rangle$ . Linear independence of the elements of  $\{\Lambda_i\} \cup D'_{t_i}$  is clear, and therefore  $\langle D_t \rangle = \langle \{\Lambda_i\} \cup D'_{t_i} \rangle = Q^{\perp}$ . 3. K<sub>t1...t</sub> be a basis for Ker(M̃<sub>t</sub> − v<sub>λ1</sub> − ··· − v<sub>λt</sub>) and D<sub>t1...t</sub> the corresponding dual elements. Also as in the proof of the previous parts, let K<sub>t</sub> be a basis for Ker(M̃<sub>t</sub>) and also let q<sub>1</sub>,..., q<sub>m</sub> ∈ K<sub>t</sub> correspond to Λ<sub>1</sub>,..., Λ<sub>m</sub> respectively. Then from the proof of part 2 we have that {q<sub>1</sub>} ∪ K<sub>t1</sub> is a basis for Ker(M̃<sub>t</sub>). Also by part 2 of the proposition, q<sub>2</sub>,..., q<sub>m</sub> ∈ ⟨K<sub>t</sub>⟩ and correspondingly Λ<sub>2</sub>,..., Λ<sub>m</sub> ∈ ⟨D<sub>t1</sub>⟩. Now consider the matrix M̃<sub>t</sub> − v<sub>λ1</sub> and the basis D<sub>t1</sub> obtained from it. Since v<sub>λ2</sub> is active in Λ<sub>2</sub> (which corresponds to q<sub>2</sub> in K<sub>t</sub>), and it is not active in Λ<sub>1</sub>, then we can apply part 2 of the proposition to the matrix M̃<sub>t</sub> − v<sub>λ1</sub> and the basis D<sub>t1</sub> obtained y it. Then we will have that {q<sub>2</sub>} ∪ K<sub>t12</sub> is a basis for Ker(M̃<sub>t</sub> − v<sub>λ1</sub> and q<sub>3</sub>,..., q<sub>m</sub> ∈ ⟨K<sub>t12</sub>⟩. Correspondingly, Λ<sub>3</sub>,..., Λ<sub>m</sub> ∈ ⟨D<sub>12</sub>⟩. This implies that {q<sub>1</sub>, q<sub>2</sub>} ∪ K<sub>t12</sub> is a basis for Ker(M̃<sub>t</sub>). Continuing with v<sub>λi</sub>, i ≥ 3, and considering the assumption that v<sub>λi</sub> is not active in Λ<sub>1</sub>,..., q<sub>m</sub>} ∪ K<sub>t1...m</sub> as a basis for Ker(M̃<sub>t</sub>) and correspondingly {Λ<sub>1</sub>,..., Λ<sub>m</sub>} ∪ D<sub>1...m</sub> as a basis for the degree t part of Q<sup>⊥</sup>

The above proposition shows that deleting some columns from  $\widetilde{M}_t$  helps us to avoid re-computing the basis elements of degree at most t-1, which were already computed in the previous steps. Not every set of m active columns will give us degree t elements of a basis. In fact if we delete two columns that both are active in two different basis members of  $D_{t-1}$ , then we may not obtain some members of  $D_t$ , For instance Let  $D_2 = \{\Lambda_1 = d_1 + d_2 + d_1^2 + d_2^2, \Lambda_2 = d_1 + d_2 + 2d_1^2 + d_1d_2\}$  and  $\Lambda' = d_1 + d_2^3 \in Ker(\widetilde{M}_3)$ . Then  $\Lambda' \notin Ker(\widetilde{M}_3 - v_{d_1} - v_{d_2})$ .

Choosing the appropriate columns can be seen as a combinatorial problem. For each element of  $D_{t-1}$ , if we consider sets corresponding to the active columns in that element, then a set of columns that satisfy the assumptions of part 3 of Proposition 5 form a *System of Distinct Representatives*. However, not every set of distinct representatives gives us the appropriate columns. The above example shows this. There are combinatorial and graph theoretical equivalences for the above conditions.

In the following we show how to detect columns  $v_{\lambda_1}, \ldots, v_{\lambda_m}$  that satisfy the assumption of part 3 of Proposition 5. This is done via changing the basis  $\{\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m\}$  into a new *reduced* basis  $\{\Lambda'_1, \ldots, \Lambda'_m\}$ , in which the leading terms satisfy the assumptions of part 3 of Proposition 5.

Let  $D_{t-1} = \{\Lambda_1, \dots, \Lambda_m\}$  as above. Remember that having  $D_{t-1}$ , one can construct Matrix 6 in order to obtain a basis for the degree t part of R/Q, so that Condition 10 can be applied. Below we show constructing a similar, but smaller matrix which gives us the desired set of active columns. Same as  $\widetilde{M}_t$ , the columns of this matrix are labeled by the coefficients/polynomials that appear in  $\Lambda$  in Equation 7. Same as Matrix 6, the rows of this matrix come from  $\Lambda_1, \dots, \Lambda_m$ . Let  $v_{\lambda_1}, \dots, v_{\lambda_u}$  be the columns of  $\widetilde{M}_t$  such that they are active in  $D_{t-1}$ . Construct the following matrix containing the columns  $v_{\lambda_1}, \dots, v_{\lambda_u}$ .

Columns labeled same as 
$$M_t$$
  
 $M' = \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda_1 \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda_m \\ v_{\lambda_1} \\ \cdots \\ v_{\lambda_s} \\ \end{pmatrix},$ 
(16)

Changing M' into a row echelon form matrix, after moving the pivot columns to the left hand, we will reach to a matrix of the following form.

$$G'^{-1}M' = \begin{array}{ccc} \Lambda'_1 \\ \Lambda'_2 \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda'_m \end{array} \begin{pmatrix} * & * & & \\ 0 & \ddots & & * & \\ \vdots & \ddots & * & & \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & * & * & \cdots & * \end{pmatrix},$$
(17)

where diagonal entries are nonzero and G' is the matrix that takes care of the operations done for the column swapping and the row echelon form. Note that we will not have any zero row. This is because otherwise, if we obtain a zero row in  $G'^{-1}M'$ , that row is linearly dependent to the other rows. But this is in contradiction with  $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m$  (and therefore  $\Lambda'_1, \ldots, \Lambda'_m$  as their linear combination) being linearly independent. Then our basis will satisfy the conditions of part 3 of Proposition 5.

Now we are ready to prove the following, which provides us with an algorithmic improvement of the integration method, more efficient than Condition 10. **Corollary 19.** (*Criterion for Deleting Active Columns*) Let  $D_{t-1} = \{\Lambda_1, \dots, \Lambda_m\}, \widetilde{M}_t, D_t, v_{\lambda_1}, \dots, v_{\lambda_u}$  and  $G'^{-1}M'$  be as in Equation 17, and (by abuse of notation) let  $v_{\lambda_1}, \dots, v_{\lambda_m}$  be the columns of  $\widetilde{M}_t$  corresponding to the first m columns in  $G'^{-1}M'$ . Also let  $K_{t_1...m}$  be a basis for  $Ker(\widetilde{M}_t - v_{\lambda_1} - \dots - v_{\lambda_m})$  and  $D_{t_1...m}$  be the set of its corresponding dual elements. Then  $D_{t-1} \cup D_{t_1...m}$  is a basis for the degree t part of  $Q^{\perp}$ .

*Proof.* We only need to prove that the columns  $v_{\lambda_1}, \ldots, v_{\lambda_m}$  in  $G'^{-1}M'$  satisfy the conditions of part 3 of Proposition 5. This is the case because for all  $1 \leq i \leq m$ ,  $v_{\lambda_i}$  has zero in coordinates  $i + 1, \ldots, m$  and has non-zero coordinate i, which is the row corresponding to  $\Lambda_i$ . This means that for all  $1 \leq i \leq m$ ,  $v_{\lambda_i}$  is not active in  $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_{i-1}$ . Having the above argument, the result comes directly from Proposition 5.

Corollary 19 provides us with an optimization in the integration method. Assume that the monomials  $x^{\mathbf{a}_1}, \ldots, x^{\mathbf{a}_m}$  form a basis for the degree t-1 part of R/Q. If the monomial  $dx^{\mathbf{a}_i}$  only appears once in  $\Lambda$  in Equation 7, then applying Condition 10, we have that

$$\Lambda(x^{\mathbf{a}_i}) = \lambda dx^{\mathbf{a}_i}(x^{\mathbf{a}_i}) = \lambda_i = 0.$$

This gives us an equation which adds a row to  $\widetilde{M}_t$ . However, instead of adding the corresponding row to  $\widetilde{M}_t$ , one can just plug in  $\lambda_i = 0$  in the other equations obtained from Conditions 8, 9. This will remove  $\lambda_i$  from the other equations, or equivalently will remove the column  $v_{\lambda_i}$  from  $\widetilde{M}_t$ . If we let  $v_{\lambda_i}$  be the only column of  $M_t$  such that its label contains  $dx^{\mathbf{a}_i}$ , then  $v_{\lambda_i}$  is active in  $\Lambda_i$  and therefore according to Corollary 19, one can delete it from  $\widetilde{M}_t$  in order to avoid re-computing  $D_{t-1}$ .

In what follows we show how our construction implies a basis for the quotient ring as well as a normal form algorithm and a Gröbner basis of the primary component of the isolated point in question.

**Proposition 6.** Let  $v_{\lambda_1}, \ldots, v_{\lambda_m}$  be the columns in the criterion for deleting active columns, i.e., Corollary 19. Also assume that  $p_1, \ldots, p_m$  are the corresponding polynomials to the coefficients  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_m$  in  $\Lambda$  in Equation 7 and let  $p'_i \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  be the polynomial with the same monomials as  $p_i \in \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ . Then  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_m\}$  is a basis for the degree t - 1 part of R/Q.

*Proof.* Let  $l_1, \ldots, l_m$  be the leading terms of  $p_1, \ldots, p_m$ . Then from the discussion in the integration method, we know that  $\{l_1, \ldots, l_m\}$  is a basis for the degree t - 1 part of R/Q. Since  $p_1, \ldots, p_m \in R/Q$  and also the cardinality of  $\{l_1, \ldots, l_m\}$  and  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_m\}$  are the same, then in order to prove that  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_m\}$  is a basis for R/Q, we just need to prove that  $p_1, \ldots, p_m$  are linearly independent. Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $l_i$  appears only in  $p_i, 1 \le i \le m$ . Because otherwise, we can reduce  $p_1, \ldots, p_m$  with respect to each other so that we obtain polynomials  $p'_1, \ldots, p'_m$  such that  $l_1, \ldots, l_m$  are the leading terms of  $p'_1, \ldots, p'_m$  and  $l_i$  appears only in  $p_i$ , for  $1 \le i \le m$  and also  $\langle p'_1, \ldots, p'_m \rangle = \langle p_1, \ldots, p_m \rangle$ . Now this shows that  $p_1, \ldots, p_m$  are linearly independent, because each leading term only appears in one single polynomial and therefore no  $p_i$  can be in the span of the other  $p_j, 1 \le j \ne i \le m$ .

Let  $p'_i \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  be the polynomial  $p_i$ , substituting  $\partial_{x_i} = x_i$ , for  $1 \le i \le m$ . Then Proposition 6 implies that the criterion for deleting active basis can be viewed as adding the equation  $\Lambda(p'_i) = 0$ , for  $1 \le i \le m$ . Exactly the same as Condition 10, this equation leads to adding rows to  $\widetilde{M}_t$ , however those rows are in the form  $(0, \ldots, 0, c, 0, \ldots, 0)$ , where c is a nonzero element in coordinate  $i, 1 \le i \le m$  and therefore they result in deleting the corresponding columns. We can say even more.

**Proposition 7.** Let  $\{p'_1, \ldots, p'_m\} \subseteq \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  be a (not necessarily monomial) basis for the degree t part of R/Q such that no monomial of  $p'_i$  is in Q and let  $p_1, \ldots, p_m \in \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  be the polynomials  $p'_i$ , substituting  $x_i = \partial_{x_i}$ , for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ . For monomials  $m_1, \ldots, m_k \notin Q$  such that  $m_1, \ldots, m_k \notin Supp(p_1) \cup \ldots \cup Supp(p_m)$ , write  $m_j = \sum_{i=1}^m \lambda_{ij}p'_i$ . Then  $\Lambda_i = p_i + \sum_{j=1}^k \lambda_{ij}m_j$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq m$ , is a basis for the degree t part of  $Q^{\perp}$  and the normal form of any  $g \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  with respect to the basis  $\{p'_1, \ldots, p'_m\}$  is

$$NF(g) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \Lambda_i(g) p'_i.$$

*Proof.*  $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m$  are linearly independent because  $p_1, \ldots, p_m$  are linearly independent in R/Q, due to the linear independence of  $p'_1, \ldots, p'_m$ . The latter is the case by Proposition 6. The rest of the proof is exactly the same as the proof of Lemma 2.4 in [19].

If  $\{p'_1, \ldots, p'_m\} \subseteq \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  is an arbitrary basis of R/Q and  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_m\} \subseteq \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  are the corresponding differential polynomials, then removing the monomials that are in Q in each  $p'_i$ , we will obtain a new basis for R/Q. So this assumption in the proposition holds without loss of generality. Thus, we have the following generalization of Lemma 3.4 in [19].

**Proposition 8.** Let  $\{p'_1, \ldots, p'_m\} \subseteq \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  be a basis for the degree t part of R/Q such that no monomial of  $p'_i$  is in Q. An element  $\Lambda \in \mathbb{K}[\partial]$  is not zero in  $Q_t^{\perp} \setminus Q_{t-1}^{\perp}$  if and only if in addition to Equations 9 and 8 it satisfies

$$\Lambda(p_i) = 0, \ 1 \le i \le m.$$

Constructing matrices M' and  $G'^{-1}M'$  in order to choose particular active columns and deleting them is a special case of the above proposition. We have the following generalization of Proposition 3.7 in [23].

**Proposition 9.** Let < be a term order and  $m_j, p_i, p'_i, \Lambda_i, 1 \le i \le m, 1 \le j \le k$  be as in Proposition 8. Also let  $l_i = lt(p'_i)$  and  $w_1, \ldots, w_s$  be the monomials different from  $l_i$  in  $p'_1, \ldots, p'_m$ . Write  $w_i = \sum_{j=1}^m \gamma_{ij} p'_j$ . Consider  $W = \{g_{w_i} := w_i + \sum_{j=1}^m \gamma_{ij} p'_j | 1 \le i \le s\}, G := \{m_j + \sum_{i=1}^m \lambda_{ij} p'_i | 1 \le j \le m\}$  and  $C := \{\mathbf{x}^c | c \in \mathbb{N}^n, |c| = \mathcal{N} + 1\}$ . Then  $G \cup W \cup C$  is a Gröbner basis for Q with respect to <.

*Proof.* Proof of Proposition 3.7 in [23] works here as well. We just need to note that for every  $f \in Q$ ,  $lt(f) \in \langle lt(G) \cup lt(W) \cup C \rangle$ .

Note that unlike Proposition 3.7 in [23]  $G \cup C$  is not a Gröbner basis in this case as we don't necessarily have  $\langle lt(Q) \rangle = \langle lt(G) \cup lt(W) \cup C \rangle$ .

We explain the computations in step 3 of Example 3.3 in [19] using the above result. We also compare our proposition with Condition 10. This is done below in Example 20.

**Example 20.** Let  $I = \langle f_1, f_2 \rangle \leq \mathbb{K}[x, y]$ , where

$$f_1 = x - y + x^2$$
  
 $f_2 = x - y + y^2$ .

In step 2 of the algorithm we have that

$$\widetilde{M}_{2} = \begin{array}{c} d_{1} & d_{2} & d_{1}^{2} & d_{1}d_{2} + d_{2}^{2} \\ \widetilde{M}_{2} = & \Lambda(f_{1}) = 0 \\ \Lambda(f_{2}) = 0 \end{array} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

from which we have  $D_2 = \{\Lambda_1 = 1, \Lambda_2 = d_1 + d_2, \Lambda_3 = d_2 + d_1^2 + d_1 d_2 + d_2^2\}$ . The active columns in  $D_2$  are  $v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4$ , where  $v_i$  refers to column *i* and therefore matrix M' defined in 16 (ignoring  $\Lambda_1 = 1$ ) is

$$M' = \begin{array}{ccc} d_1 & d_2 & d_1^2 & d_1d_2 + d_2^2 \\ M' = \begin{array}{ccc} \Lambda_2 \\ \Lambda_3 \end{array} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{array} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Two instances of substituting some columns of M' and then computing its (reduced) echelon form are shown below. Matrix

$$G_1^{\prime-1}M' = \begin{array}{ccc} a_2 & a_1^{\prime} & a_1 & a_1a_2 + a_2^{\prime} \\ \Lambda_3^{\prime} & \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

gives columns  $v_2$  and  $v_3$  and matrix

$$G_2'^{-1}M' = \begin{array}{ccc} d_2 & d_1d_2 + d_2^2 & d_1 & d_1^2 \\ \Lambda_2' & \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

gives columns  $v_2$  and  $v_4$ .

For instance if we consider  $G_2'^{-1}M'$ , then  $\Lambda'_2 = d_2 + d_1 + d_1^2$  and  $\Lambda'_3 = d_1d_2 + d_2^2 + d_1 + d_1^2$ .  $d_2$  only appears in  $\lambda'_2$  and  $d_1d_2 + d_2^2$  only appears in  $\Lambda'_3$ , and therefore by deleting columns  $v_2$  and  $v_4$  from  $\widetilde{M}_3$  we will have the following in step 3.

 $\widetilde{M}_{3} - v_{2} - v_{4} = \begin{array}{c} d_{1} & d_{1}^{2} & d_{1}^{3} - d_{1}^{2} & d_{2}^{3} + d_{1}d_{2}^{2} + d_{1}^{3}d_{2} - d_{1}d_{2} \\ \text{Condition 8} \\ \Lambda(f_{1}) = 0 \\ \Lambda(f_{2}) = 0 \end{array} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ 

 $Ker(\widetilde{M}_3 - v_2 - v_4) = 0$  and we are done. Using any of the pairs of columns obtained via other possible matrices we would have gotten the same result.

**Other observations.** On one hand we show how pivoting could help and on the other hand we compare the sizes of the matrices produced by the theory presented above. Let us put an order on the monomials of  $D_{t-1}$ , e.g., degree lexicographic. Then  $lt(\Lambda')$ , the leading term of  $\Lambda'$ , would be well-defined for every  $\Lambda' \in D_t$ . Now one can consider reducing the members of a basis of  $D_t$  with respect to each other so that  $lt(\Lambda') \notin Supp(\Lambda'')$  for all  $\Lambda' \neq \Lambda'' \in D_t$ . We call such a basis a *reduced basis*. Then the leading term will be a monomial that uniquely appears in the reduced basis. If  $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m$  is a basis for  $D_{t-1}$ , then removing the columns corresponding to  $lt(\Lambda_1), \ldots, lt(\lambda_m)$  from  $\widetilde{M}_t$  is equivalent to part 3 of Proposition 5. Using part 1 of Proposition 5, one may check whether  $v_{\lambda}$  is active in D efficiently. This must be done with precise pivoting. For that, one must start with reducing  $v_{\lambda}$  with the *appropriate* columns, without doing the column reductions for the other columns, unless it is required. In the worst case, we will need to compute the whole kernel, i.e., the whole  $D_t$ , but this is not necessarily the case all the time and therefore this can be viewed as a first potential optimization step. As a side remark, using row echelon form is also taking advantage of pivoting.

**Change of the Integration Order at Each Step.** We conclude by another possible optimization strategy. One can change the order of the variables at each step of the integration method in order to gain some computational advantage. Suppose that we have computed  $D_{t-1} = \{\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m\}$ . Consider  $n_i := \#\{dx_i^{\alpha_i} \in \bigcup Supp(\Lambda_i) | \alpha_i \in I\}$ 

N}. Now, re-order the variables in the following way: if  $n_i \leq n_j$ , then put  $x_i < x_j$  (note that if the equality happens, we don't care whether  $x_i$  appears before  $x_j$  or vice versa). We call such an order a *good integrable* order. Assume that  $x_{b_1} < x_{b_2} < \ldots < x_{b_n}$  is a good integrable ordering, where  $b_i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Now we consider  $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_m$  as polynomials in  $\mathbb{K}[dx_{b_1}, \ldots, dx_{b_n}]$  and continue with the integration in the following order:

$$\Lambda = \sum_{i} \lambda_{i1} \int_{b_1} \Lambda_i |_{dx_{b_2} = \dots = dx_{b_n} = 0} + \dots + \sum_{i} \lambda_{in-1} \int_{b_{n-1}} \Lambda_i |_{dx_{b_2} = \dots = dx_{b_n} = 0} + \sum_{i} \lambda_{in} \int_{b_n} \Lambda_i.$$

This way, we will do the least possible number of integrations. Note that the number of integrands and the number of basis elements of  $D_{t-1}$  are fixed and therefore we won't gain any advantage in terms of the size of  $M_t$ . The following example illustrates the optimization.

Example 21. Consider Example 16. In step two we have that

$$D_2 = \left\langle \Lambda_1 = 1, \Lambda_2 = d_1 + d_2, \Lambda_3 = -d_1 + d_1^2 + d_1 d_2 + d_2^2 \right\rangle.$$

Then  $n_1 = 3, n_2 = 2$ . Therefore we change the order into y < x and work on  $\mathbb{K}[dy, dx]$ . Then

$$\Lambda = \lambda_1 dy + \lambda_2 dx + \lambda_3 dy^2 + \lambda_4 (dydx + dx^2) + \lambda_5 (dy^3) + \lambda_6 (dx^3 - dx^2 + dx^2 dy + dx dy^2).$$

We have only one monomial in the 5-th column of  $M_3$ , while in the original ordering, we had two:

$$\Lambda = \lambda_1 dx + \lambda_2 dy + \lambda_3 dx^2 + \lambda_4 (dxdy + dy^2) + \lambda_5 (dx^3 - dx^2) + \lambda_6 (dy^3 + dxdy^2 + dx^2dy + dxdy) + \lambda_6 (dy^3 + dx^2dy + dx^2$$

Algorithm 3: Modified Integration Method

**Input**: A basis for an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$ **Output:** A basis for  $Q_{\mathcal{L}}^{\perp}$  and directional multiplicities def ComputeBasis:  $D_{\text{old}} = \emptyset$  $D_{\text{new}} = \{\Lambda = d^0 = 1\}$  $\mu_i = 0, i = 1, \ldots, n$ while  $D_{old} \neq D_{new}$ :  $D_{\text{old}} = D_{\text{new}}$ Change the order of the variables into a good integrable order  $\Lambda := \sum_{i=1}^{s} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_{ik} \int_{k} \Lambda_{i}(d_{1}, \dots, d_{k}, 0, \dots, 0)$  $\forall 1 \leq k < l \leq n, \sum_{i=1}^{s} \lambda_{ik} d_{l}(\Lambda_{i}) - \sum_{i=1}^{1} \lambda_{il} d_{k}(\Lambda_{i}) = 0$  $\forall 1 \leq i \leq s, \ \Lambda(f_i) = 0$ Construct matrix  $M_{\text{new}}$ , the coefficient matrix of  $\Lambda$ Apply Criterion 19 and choose *good* columns  $v_{\lambda_1}, \ldots, v_{\lambda_m}$  $M_{\text{new}}: M_{\text{new}} - v_{\lambda_1} - \dots - v_{\lambda_m}$  $D_{\text{new}} = D_{\text{old}} \bigcup Ker(M_{\text{new}})$ If  $dx_i^{\mu_i+1} \in Supp(D_{\text{new}})$ , then  $\mu_i = \text{highest power of } dx_i \text{ in } D_{\text{new}}|_{x_i \neq 0}$ **return**  $D_{\text{new}}$  and  $\mu_i$ 

#### 3.3.2 Modifications of Macaulay's Algorithm

For Macaulay's algorithm we use the following notation.  $M_t$  stands for the matrix in step t. Columns of  $M_t$  in Macaulay's algorithm are labeled by monomials  $dx^a \in \mathbb{K}[dx_1, \ldots, dx_n]$ . Then  $v_{dx^a}$  denotes the column corresponding to  $dx^a$  in  $M_t$ . Note that  $v_{dx^a}$  is well-defined because in  $M_t$  obtained via Macaulay's algorithm, for every monomial of degree at most t, there exists a column labeled by it and vice versa. Also note that since the columns are labeled by the monomials, a column  $v_{dx^a}$  is active in a basis D of  $Q^{\perp}$  if and only if  $v_{dx^a} \in Supp(D)$ .

Below we show a modification of Proposition 5 and its corollary for Macaulay's algorithm. This enables us to make Macaulay's algorithm more efficient.

**Proposition 10.** Let  $M_t, M_{t-1}, D_t, \Lambda_i$   $(1 \le i \le m), \lambda, dx^a$  and  $v_{dx^a}$  be as above. Then the following hold.

- 1. If  $v_{dx^a}$  is a column of  $M_t$ , then  $v_{dx^a} \in Supp(D_t)$  if and only if  $v_{dx^a}$  can be reduced to zero by other columns of  $M_t$ .
- For all 1 ≤ i ≤ m, if v<sub>dx<sup>a</sup></sub> ∈ Supp(Λ<sub>i</sub>), K'<sub>ti</sub> is a basis for Ker(M<sub>t</sub> − v<sub>λi</sub>) and D'<sub>ti</sub> is the set of its corresponding dual elements, then {Λ<sub>i</sub>} ∪ D'<sub>ti</sub> is a basis for the degree t part of Q<sup>⊥</sup>. Moreover, if v<sub>dx<sup>a</sup>i</sub> ∈ Supp(Λ<sub>i</sub>), but v<sub>dx<sup>a</sup>i</sub> ∉ Supp(Λ<sub>j</sub>), 1 ≤ j ≠ i ≤ m, then there exists a basis D'<sub>ti</sub> such that Λ<sub>j</sub> ∈ D'<sub>ti</sub>, j ≠ i.
- 3. For all  $1 \leq i \leq m$ , if  $v_{dx^{a_i}} \in Supp(\Lambda_i)$ , but  $v_{dx^{a_i}} \notin Supp(\Lambda_j)$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq i-1$ , then  $D_{t-1} \cup D_{t_{1...m}}$  is a basis for the degree t part of  $Q^{\perp}$ .

*Proof.* Similar to the proof of Proposition 5.

In order to detect columns  $v_{dx^{a_i}}$  that satisfy the assumptions of Proposition 10, one can simply adapt the methods mentioned for the modified integration method and equivalently form the matrices  $M'', G''^{-1}M''$ . Then we have the following corollary, which is the equivalent of Corollary 19 for Macaulay's algorithm.

**Corollary 22.** (*Criterion for Deleting Suitable Columns in Macaulay's Matrices*) Let  $D_{t-1} = \{\Lambda_1, \dots, \Lambda_m\}, M_t, D_t, v_{\lambda_1}, \dots, v_{\lambda_u}$  be as in Equation 17 and  $G''^{-1}M''$  be as above and (by abuse of notation) let  $v_{\lambda_1}, \dots, v_{\lambda_m}$  be the columns of  $M_t$  corresponding to the first m columns in  $G''^{-1}M''$ . Also let  $K_{t_{1...m}}$  be a basis for  $Ker(M_t - v_{\lambda_1} - \dots - v_{\lambda_m})$  and  $D_{t_{1...m}}$  be the set of its corresponding dual elements. Then  $D_{t-1} \cup D_{t_{1...m}}$  is a basis for  $Q^{\perp}$ .

Proof. Similar to the proof of Corollary 19.

The following provides us with more modifications on Macaulay's algorithm.

**Lemma 23.** For all  $1 \leq i \leq n$ ,  $1 \leq m, t \leq N$  and  $a, b \in \mathbb{N}^n$  the following hold.

- 1. Let  $dx^a \in Supp(D_t)$  and  $dx^b | dx^a$  then  $dx^b \in Supp(D)$ . In particular, if  $dx^a \in Supp(D_t)$  and  $dx_i^m | dx^a$  then  $dx_i^m, \dots, dx_i, 1 \in Supp(D)$ .
- 2. Let  $dx^{b} \notin Supp(D)$ ,  $dx^{b}|dx^{a}$  and  $|a| \leq t$ . Then  $dx^{a} \notin Supp(D_{t})$ . In particular, if  $dx_{i}^{m} \notin Supp(D)$  then  $dx_{i}^{m+1}, \ldots dx_{i}^{t} \notin Supp(D_{t})$ . Also if  $dx_{i}^{m} \notin Supp(D_{t-1})$  then  $dx_{i}^{m+1}, dx_{i}^{m+2}, \ldots \notin Supp(D_{t})$ .

*Proof.* 1. For all  $1 \le i \le n$ :

$$dx^{\mathbf{a}} \in Supp(D_t) \Leftrightarrow x^{\mathbf{a}} \notin Q_{\zeta}$$
$$x^{\mathbf{a}} \notin Q_{\zeta} \Rightarrow x^{\mathbf{b}} \notin Q_{\zeta}$$
$$x^{\mathbf{b}} \notin Q_{\zeta} \Leftrightarrow dx^{\mathbf{b}} \in Supp(D).$$

The rest can be proved by putting  $x^{\mathbf{b}} = x_i^m$ .

2. Although this part can be proved directly, however, we use a simple logic argument to prove it. Consider the following notations for the three logic statements that appear in the proposition:

$$\mathbf{p} = dx^{\mathbf{a}} \in Supp(D_t), \ \mathbf{q} = dx^{\mathbf{b}} | dx^{\mathbf{a}}, \ \mathbf{r} = dx^{\mathbf{b}} \in Supp(D).$$

Then the previous part says that

$$p \land q \Rightarrow r$$

Therefore, we have the following (Note that the condition  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq t$  is a consequence of p):

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbf{p} \wedge \mathbf{q} \Rightarrow \mathbf{r}) \Leftrightarrow (\neg \mathbf{r} \Rightarrow \neg (\mathbf{p} \wedge \mathbf{q})) \\ \Leftrightarrow (\neg \mathbf{r} \Rightarrow \neg \mathbf{p} \lor \neg \mathbf{q}) \\ \Leftrightarrow (\neg \mathbf{r} \wedge \mathbf{q} \Rightarrow \neg \mathbf{p}), \end{aligned}$$

which means that if  $dx^{\mathbf{b}} \notin Supp(D)$  and  $dx^{\mathbf{b}}|dx^{\mathbf{a}}$  then  $dx^{\mathbf{a}} \notin Supp(D_t)$ .

By Lemma 23, one may find some monomials in Supp(D) that are of degree at most t, but not necessarily belong to  $Supp(D_t)$  and therefore not necessarily they appear as monomials in the generators of  $D_t$ . Also if  $dx_i^m$  is the largest power of  $dx_i$  that appears in  $Supp(D_{t-1})$  then by Lemma 23  $dx_i^{m+1}$  is the largest possible power of  $dx_i$  that can appear in  $Supp(D_t)$ . Another point that we can deduce from the above proposition is that if  $dx_i^m$  is the largest power of  $dx_i$  that appears in  $Supp(D_{t-1})$  and  $dx_i^{m+1} \notin D_t$ , then not necessarily  $\mu_i = m$ , because  $dx_i^{m+1}$  may appear in some other step of the algorithm and therefore, for computing  $\mu_i$ , this doesn't give us a termination criterion. However, in that case there won't be anymore a leading term of the form  $dx_i^k$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ when we work with respect to a degree term order. Also obviously, we have that  $dx_i^{\mu_i}, \ldots, dx_i \in Supp(D)$ . All these monomials appear in  $Supp(D_t)$  at some step of the integration method, as they only will be obtained via integrating the lower power and therefore they will appear at some step of the integration algorithm. But this doesn't imply that they necessarily appear during Macaulay's algorithm. The same applies not only for the powers of a variable  $x_i$ , but also to every monomial  $dx^a \in Supp(D_{t-1})$ , i.e.,  $\int_i dx^a$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq n$  is the only multiple of  $dx^a$ that can appear in  $Supp(D_t)$ .

Based on the above remarks, we can make the following improvement to Macaulay's algorithm.

**Proposition 11** (Improvement on Macaulay's Algorithm). Let  $M_t$  be the matrix obtained via Macaulay's algorithm. Consider the set

$$A = \left\{ \int_{i} dx^{\boldsymbol{a}}, 1 \leq i \leq n : dx^{\boldsymbol{a}} \in Supp(D_{t-1}) \land \left( \nexists dx^{\boldsymbol{b}} \in Supp(D_{t-1}), dx^{\boldsymbol{a}} | dx^{\boldsymbol{b}} \right) \right\}.$$
(18)

Then  $Ker(M_t-v_A) = Ker(M_t)$ , where  $M-v_A$  is the matrix obtained by deleting the columns corresponding to the members of A.

*Proof.* The proof is immediate from part 2 of Lemma 23.

We explain the improvement by redoing the calculations for Example 12, step 3 using the above result and comparing the computations.

#### Example 24. Let

$$f_1 = x^2 + (y - 1)^2 - 1$$
  
$$f_2 = y^2.$$

After doing the computations in step 2, we have  $D_2 = \{1, d_1, 2d_1^2 + d_2\}$ .  $d_2 \in Supp(D_2)$ , but  $d_2^2 \notin Supp(D_2)$ . So, in step 3, by the above improvement, we can remove  $v_{d_1d_2^2}$  and  $v_{d_2^3}$  from  $M_3$ . Also we can remove the columns  $v_1, v_{d_1}, v_{d_1^2}$  using proposition 10. So the new matrix has 5 columns, while the original matrix in Macaulay's method has 10 columns.

A	lgorithm	<b>4:</b> N	<b>Iodified</b>	Macau	lay's	Algorithm
---	----------	-------------	-----------------	-------	-------	-----------

**Input**: A basis for an  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$ **Output**: A basis for  $Q_{\mathcal{L}}^{\perp}$  and the directional multiplicities def ComputeBasis:  $D_{\text{old}} = \emptyset$  $D_{\text{new}} = \{\Lambda = d^0 = 1\}$ t = 0 $\mu_i = 0, i = 1, \dots, m$ while  $D_{old} \neq D_{new}$ :  $D_t = D_{\text{old}}$  $D_{\text{old}} = D_{\text{new}}$ Construct matrix  $M_{\text{new}}$ , the coefficient matrix of  $D_{\text{new}}$  $\forall \Lambda \in D_t$ , delete a good active column in  $\Lambda$  from  $M_{\text{new}}$ Compute A as in Equation 18  $M_{\mathrm new} = M_{\mathrm new} - v_A$ If  $v_{dx_i^{\mu_i+1}} \in Ker(M_{\text{new}})$ , then  $\mu_i = \mu_i + 1$  $D_{\text{new}} = \text{kernel}(M_{\text{new}})$  $D_{\text{new}} = D_{\text{old}} \bigcup Ker(M_{\text{new}})$ t = t + 1**return**  $D_{\text{new}}$  and  $\mu_i$ 

**Example 25.** Let  $I = \langle f_1, f_2, f_3 \rangle \subseteq \mathbb{K}[x, y, z]$ , where

$$f_1 = 2x + 2x^2 + 2y + 2y^2 + z^2 - 1,$$
  

$$f_2 = (x + y - z - 1)^3 - x^3,$$
  

$$f_3 = (2x^3 + 2y^2 + 10z + 5z^2 + 5)^3 - 1000x^5$$

(0, 0, -1) is a root of multiplicity 18,  $\mu_x = 5, \mu_y = 8, \mu_z = 8$  and  $\mathcal{N} = 9$ . From step 3 to step 5, the highest power of dx is 2. In step 6, the monomial  $dx^3$  appears and in steps 7 and 8, we see the monomial  $dx^4$ . For dy and dz all the powers appear in all steps. This is a very dense system for computing  $\mu_x$  and  $\mu_y$ , in the sense that all the powers of dy and dz appear in all the steps. However for dx we see that we have done many redundant computations.

At the end of this section, we comment on the comparison between the size of the matrices obtained at step t of the above algorithms and their modifications, as size is a big obstacle in computations. The matrix obtained via Macaulay's algorithm has  $\binom{t+n}{n}$  columns and at least the same number of rows. In the integration method,  $\widetilde{M}_t$  has nm columns and  $\binom{n}{2} + e$  rows. Applying Condition 10 in the integration method, one gets m extra rows, which in special cases can result in deleting at most those m rows and also at most m columns. So the size of the matrix is at least  $\binom{n}{2} + e + m \times (n-1)m$ . However, this is exactly the size of the matrix obtained using

our modification to the integration method. Also if we let  $\widehat{M}_t$  be the matrix obtained from Macaulay's algorithm applying our modifications, for every column  $v_{dx^a}$  of  $\widehat{M}_t$ , there exists a  $p_\lambda$  such that  $dx^a \in Supp(p_\lambda)$ . In other words, all the monomials appearing as the columns of  $\widehat{M}_t$ , will appear in the columns of  $\widetilde{M}_t$ , but the difference is that they might be a monomial in a polynomial. This means that the number of columns of  $\widehat{M}_t$  and  $\widehat{M}_T$  will be the same if every  $p_\lambda$  is a monomial. Thus, the columns of  $\widetilde{M}_t$  are (possibly sums of) the columns of  $\widehat{M}_t$ . Note that many of the rows in both methods can (and in practice are) zero and can be simply deleted.

Concluding this section we provide a list of computational observations:

- Computing the directional multiplicity is basically equivalent to computing the projection of the kernel of  $M_N$ . There are several classic kernel computation algorithms, e.g., *Singular Value Decomposition*. However, we are not aware of any algorithm for projection, without computing the whole kernel. Proposition 5 can be considered as a proposal for an incremental algorithm for computing kernel projection.
- Having a bound for the directional multiplicities, one can construct a single matrix and compute the dual basis using that matrix rather than running several steps. This is guaranteed by Proposition 3, part 3. The idea for constructing such a matrix is to use the resultant in order to get a bound U for directional multiplicities. Having  $M_U$ , the Macaulay matrix of size U, the kernel of  $M_U$  will give us the whole dual. Note that the main obstacles for this method are the size of  $M_U$  as well as computing the resultant. The bound U could be the Bezout bound in worst case.

## **4** Applications and Future Work

### 4.1 Applications of Directional Multiplicity

We explore some applications of directional multiplicity. The exploration does not go into details, as the main purpose is to show the usefulness of the concept rather than present the applications themselves.

**Arrangement and Topology of Planar Algebraic Curves.** There are several methods in the literature for computing the arrangement and topology of a planar algebraic curve, e.g [2, 1, 7, 10, 4]. In principle, all methods use some elimination tool, e.g Gröbner basis or resultants, in order to project algebraic curves on one axis and identify the critical points (points where derivatives vanish). This is done by finding the real roots of the elimination ideal and using this information to reconstruct/identify the arrangement and topology of the curve. These approaches typically assume that no two critical points have the same projection on the axis. Our work explains what happens in that situation. In Section 4.1, we show how directional multiplicity can handle degenerate situations. Particularly, our algorithms for computing directional multiplicity with respect to an axis could be useful for computing the *multiplicity of a point in its fiber*. Devising a full algorithm for determining the topology of the algebraic curve is beyond the scope of this paper.

Geometry of the Elimination Ideal. Let  $I \subseteq \mathbb{C}[x, y]$  be a zero dimensional ideal with no roots at infinity generated by two polynomials corresponding to two planar curves and  $I_1 = I \cap \mathbb{C}[y] = \langle g \rangle$  be its elimination ideal. We illustrate the case of geometric degeneracy and how directional multiplicity can be used, in a concrete example. Let  $f_1 = (y+1)(y-x+1)$  and  $f_2 = x^2 + y^2 - 1$  as shown in the figure. The two curves intersect at two points, namely (1,0) and (0,-1). Their Sylvester resultant is  $2y(y+1)^3$ , which implies that the projection on the y-axis of the roots (1,0) and (0,-1) have multiplicity 1 and 3 respectively. On the other hand, computing the Gröbner basis of the elimination ideal in  $\mathbb{C}[y]$ , we obtain the unique monic generator  $g = y(y+1)^2$ .



Observing the difference in the multiplicities of the resultant and g, the questions "when does the multiplicity drop?" and "what does the multiplicity of a factor in g mean?" arise. Using the concept of directional multiplicity, we are able to address these question in the degenerate case, as the one in the example.

The exponent of the factor of g corresponding to an intersection point is the directional multiplicity at that point. The exponent of the corresponding factor of the resultant give us the multiplicity of the intersection points. However Gröbner basis did not say much about the geometry of the intersection. Now having the concept of directional multiplicity, we can explain the generator of the elimination ideal geometrically. In general given dense polynomials  $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ , let  $I_1 = \langle g \rangle$  and  $R_1 \ldots R_k$  be the square-free factorization of the Macaulay resultant. Then  $g = R_1^{\mu_1} \ldots R_k^{\mu_k}$ .

**Computing Hilbert Series of Zero Dimensional Ideals.** For an isolated point  $\zeta$  and its corresponding  $\mathfrak{m}_{\zeta}$ -primary ideal  $Q_{\zeta}$ , Mourrain has shown in [23] that having a base for  $Q_{\zeta}^{\perp}$ , one can obtain a basis for  $R/Q_{\zeta}$ . Also the improvement of the integration method using Equation 10 is based on computing a dual basis along with a basis for  $R/Q_{\zeta}$ . The function mapping t to the dimension of the space generated by the degree t part of this quotient is actually the Hilbert Function. Hilbert function and Hilbert series can be computed via Gröbner bases. Having the dual basis, one can compute the Hilbert function and Hilbert series. For instance, for a 0-dimensional ideal, given the set of points in the variety of the ideal, Chapter 7 of [25] shows such a method to compute the Hilbert function and series as well as the regularity. These are based on using Gröbner basis for the computations. Alternatively, one can use dual bases in order to compute these objects. In particular, directional multiplicities can be used to compute the degree of the elements of the ideal, which can be useful in computing the regularity. Finally, directional multiplicities can be used in computing the Hilbert series of the last elimination ideal.

### 4.2 Future Work

**Directional Multiplicity with respect to an arbitrary**  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . In the definition of directional multiplicity, we have considered the *n* axes as the directions. One could think of defining the multiplicities in the direction of an arbitrary vector  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . The directional multiplicities along these vectors might be useful in studying singularities of curves.

Directional Multiplicity for Sparse Systems. Let us consider the following example.

**Example 26.** Let  $I = \langle f_1 = x^9 - x^6 y^2, f_2 = y \rangle \subseteq \mathbb{K}[x, y]$ . Then the origin is a root of degree 9,  $\mu_1 = 9, \mu_2 = 1$ . Both the integration method and Macaulay's algorithm need to run until step 10 in order to find the dual space.

In the above example many columns (corresponding to monomials) are considered, which are equal to the zero vector. This is because the system is *sparse*. If we knew a-priori that  $dx^9 \in D$ , then we could have avoided the previous steps. One idea to deal with such cases is to start with the matrix  $M_k$ , where k is an upper bound for  $\mathcal{N}$  and do the binary search top-down. However the only such bound that we are aware of is the Bezout bound for  $\mu$ , which can be too big and hence this method is impractical. For computing  $\mu_i$ , when we have a sparse system with respect to  $x_i$ , one could follow a down-top algorithm which works by a-priory adding extra columns  $v_{dx_i}, \ldots, v_{dx_i^{2^t}}$  to the modified matrix  $M_t$ , where modified  $M_t$  refers to the matrix that has been obtained at step t of either modified integration method or Macaulay's algorithm.

### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express their sincere gratitude to Matteo Gallet for discussions and comments on the early versions of this work.

Part of this work was done during the second author's supported visit to the Centre de Recerca Matemàtica, Bellaterra, Spain. For the third author, part of this work has been co-financed by the European Union (European Social Fund - ESF) and Greek national funds through the Operational Program "Education and Lifelong Learning" of the National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF) - Research Funding Program: THALIS-UOA (MIS 375891).

## References

- L. Alberti, B. Mourrain, and J. Wintz. Topology and arrangement computation of semi-algebraic planar curves. *Computer Aided Geometric Design*, 25(8):631–651, 2008.
- [2] D. S. Arnon and S. McCallum. A polynomial-time algorithm for the topological type of a real algebraic curve. *Journal of Symbolic Computation*, 5(1):213–236, 1988.
- [3] D. Bates, C. Peterson, and A. J. Sommese. A numerical-symbolic algorithm for computing the multiplicity of a component of an algebraic set. *Journal of Complexity*, 22(4):475–489, 2006.
- [4] E. Berberich, P. Emeliyanenko, A. Kobel, and M. Sagraloff. Arrangement computation for planar algebraic curves. In *Proceedings of the 2011 International Workshop on Symbolic-Numeric Computation*, pages 88– 98. ACM, 2012.
- [5] B. Buchberger. Ein Algorithmus zum Auffinden der Basiselemente des Restklassenringes nach einem Nulldimensionalen Polynomiideal (An Algorithm for Finding the Basis Elements in the Residue Class Ring Modulo a Zero Dimensional Polynomial Ideal). PhD thesis, Mathematical Institute, University of Innsbruck, Austria, 1965. (English translation in Journal of Symbolic Computation, Special Issue on Logic, Mathematics, and Computer Science: Interactions. Vol. 41, Number 3-4, Pages 475-511, 2006).
- [6] B. Buchberger. Ein Algorithmisches Kriterium f
  ür die Lösbarkeit eines Algebraischen Gleichungssystems (An Algorithmic Criterion for the Solvability of Algebraic Systems of Equations). *Aequationes Mathematicae*, 3:374–383, 1970. (English translation in B. Buchberger, F. Winkler (eds.): Gröbner Bases and Applications, London Math. Society Lecture Note Series 251, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1998, Pages 535 -545).
- [7] J. Cheng, S. Lazard, L. Peñaranda, M. Pouget, F. Rouillier, and E. Tsigaridas. On the topology of planar algebraic curves. In *Proceedings of the twenty-fifth annual symposium on Computational geometry*, pages 361–370. ACM, 2009.
- [8] D. Cox, J. Little, and D. O'Shea. Ideals, Varieties, and Algorithms: An Introduction to Computational Algebraic Geometry and Commutative Algebra. Springer, 7 2005.
- [9] D. Cox, J. Little, and D. O'Shea. Using Algebraic Geometry. Springer, 2nd edition, 2005.
- [10] D. N. Daouda, B. Mourrain, and O. Ruatta. On the computation of the topology of a non-reduced implicit space curve. In *Proceedings of the Twenty-first International Symposium on Symbolic and Algebraic Computation*, ISSAC '08, pages 47–54, New York, NY, USA, 2008. ACM.
- [11] B. H. Dayton and Z. Zeng. Computing the multiplicity structure in solving polynomial systems. In *Proceedings of the 2005 International Symposium on Symbolic and Algebraic Computation*, ISSAC '05, pages 116–123, New York, NY, USA, 2005. ACM.
- [12] M. Elkadi and B. Mourrain. Introduction à la Résolution des Systèmes Polynomiaux, volume 59. Springer, 2007.
- [13] I. Emiris and B. Mourrain. Matrices in elimination theory. *Journal of Symbolic Computation*, 28(1-2):3–44, 1999.
- [14] M. M. Kapranov I. M. Gelfand and A. V. Zelevinski. Discriminants, Resultants, and Multidimensional Determinants. Birkhäuser, 1994.
- [15] R. Krone and A. Leykin. Eliminating dual spaces. arXiv preprint arXiv:1503.02038, 2015.
- [16] A. Leykin, J. Verschelde, and A. Zhao. Higher-order deflation for polynomial systems with isolated singular solutions. In *Algorithms in algebraic geometry*, pages 79–97. Springer, 2008.
- [17] N. Li and L. Zhi. Computing isolated singular solutions of polynomial systems: case of breadth one. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 50(1):354–372, 2012.

- [18] F. S. Macaulay. *The Algebraic Theory of Modular Systems*. Cambridge mathematical library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York, Melbourne, 1994.
- [19] A. Mantzaflaris and B. Mourrain. Deflation and certified isolation of singular zeros of polynomial systems. In *Proceedings of the 36th international symposium on Symbolic and algebraic computation*, pages 249–256. ACM, 2011.
- [20] A. Mantzaflaris and B. Mourrain. Singular zeros of polynomial systems. In Tor Dokken and Georg Muntingh, editors, SAGA – Advances in ShApes, Geometry, and Algebra, volume 10 of Geometry and Computing, pages 77–103. Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [21] M Marinari, H Möller, and T. Mora. Gröbner duality and multiplicities in polynomial system solving. In Proceedings of the 1995 international symposium on Symbolic and algebraic computation, pages 167–179. ACM, 1995.
- [22] M Marinari, H Möller, and T. Mora. On multiplicities in polynomial system solving. *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, 348(8):3283–3321, 1996.
- [23] B. Mourrain. Isolated points, duality and residues. *Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra*, 117:469–493, 1997.
- [24] H. Rahkooy and Z. Zafeirakopoulos. Using resultants for inductive gröbner bases computation. ACM Communications in Computer Algebra, 45(1), 2011.
- [25] H. Schenck. Computational Algebraic Geometry, volume 58. Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [26] H. J. Stetter. Numerical Polynomial Algebra. SIAM, 2004.
- [27] B. L. van der Waerden. *Algebra*, volume 1. Springer, New York, 7th edition, 1991. Based in part on lectures by E. Artin and E. Noether.
- [28] B. L. van der Waerden. *Algebra*, volume 2. Springer, New York, 5th edition, 1991. Based in part on lectures by E. Artin and E. Noether.
- [29] X. Wu and L. Zhi. Computing the multiplicity structure from geometric involutive form. In *Proceedings of the twenty-first international symposium on Symbolic and algebraic computation*, pages 325–332. ACM, 2008.
- [30] Z. Zeng. The closedness subspace method for computing the multiplicity structure of a polynomial system. *Contemporary Mathematics*, 496:347, 2009.

# Technical Reports of the Doctoral Program "Computational Mathematics"

#### 2015

- 2015-01 G. Grasegger, A. Lastra, J. Rafael Sendra, F. Winkler: A Solution Method for Autonomous First-Order Algebraic Partial Differential Equations in Several Variables January 2015. Eds.: U. Langer, J. Schicho
- **2015-02** P. Gangl, U. Langer, A. Laurain, H. Meftahi, K. Sturm: *Shape Optimization of an Electric Motor Subject to Nonlinear Magnetostatics* January 2015. Eds.: B. Jüttler, R. Ramlau
- **2015-03** C. Fürst, G. Landsmann: Computation of Dimension in Filtered Free Modules by Gröbner Reduction May 2015. Eds.: P. Paule, F. Winkler
- **2015-04** A. Mantzaflaris, H. Rahkooy, Z. Zafeirakopoulos: *Efficient Computation of Multiplicity and Directional Multiplicity of an Isolated Point* July 2015. Eds.: B. Buchberger, J. Schicho

#### **2014**

- 2014-01 E. Pilgerstorfer, B. Jüttler: Bounding the Influence of Domain Parameterization and Knot Spacing on Numerical Stability in Isogeometric Analysis February 2014. Eds.: B. Jüttler, P. Paule
- **2014-02** T. Takacs, B. Jüttler, O. Scherzer: *Derivatives of Isogeometric Functions on Rational Patches* February 2014. Eds.: B. Jüttler, P. Paule
- **2014-03** M.T. Khan: On the Soundness of the Translation of MiniMaple to Why3ML February 2014. Eds.: W. Schreiner, F. Winkler
- **2014-04** G. Kiss, C. Giannelli, U. Zore, B. Jüttler, D. Großmann, J. Barne: Adaptive CAD model (re-)construction with THB-splines March 2014. Eds.: M. Kauers, J. Schicho
- **2014-05** R. Bleyer, R. Ramlau: An Efficient Algorithm for Solving the dbl-RTLS Problem March 2014. Eds.: E. Klann, V. Pillwein
- **2014-06** D. Gerth, E. Klann, R. Ramlau, L. Reichel: On Fractional Tikhonov Regularization April 2014. Eds.: W. Zulehner, U. Langer
- **2014-07** G. Grasegger, F. Winkler, A. Lastra, J. Rafael Sendra: A Solution Method for Autonomous First-Order Algebraic Partial Differential Equations May 2014. Eds.: P. Paule, J. Schicho
- **2014-08** W. Krendl, W. Zulehner: A Decomposition Result for Biharmonic Problems and the Hellan-Herrmann-Johnson Method August 2014. Eds.: U. Langer, V. Pillwein
- **2014-09** U. Langer, S. Repin, M. Wolfmayr: Functional a Posteriori Error Estimates for Parabolic Time-Periodic Boundary Value Problems August 2014. Eds.: V. Pillwein, W. Zulehner
- **2014-10** A. Maletzky: Complexity Analysis of the Bivariate Buchberger Algorithm in Theorema October 2014. Eds.: B. Buchberger, W. Schreiner
- **2014-11** C. Fürst, G. Landsmann: The Concept of Gröbner Reduction for Dimension in Filtered Free Modules October 2014. Eds.: F. Winkler, J. Schicho
- **2014-12** D. Gerth, B.N. Hahn, R. Ramlau: *The Method of the Approximate Inverse for Atmospheric Tomography* December 2014. Eds.: U. Langer, W. Zulehner

## **Doctoral Program**

# "Computational Mathematics"

Director:	Prof. Dr. Peter Paule Research Institute for Symbolic Computation
Deputy Director:	Prof. Dr. Bert Jüttler Institute of Applied Geometry
Address:	Johannes Kepler University Linz Doctoral Program "Computational Mathematics" Altenbergerstr. 69 A-4040 Linz Austria Tel.: ++43 732-2468-6840
E-Mail:	office@dk-compmath.jku.at
Homepage:	http://www.dk-compmath.jku.at

Submissions to the DK-Report Series are sent to two members of the Editorial Board who communicate their decision to the Managing Editor.